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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
STRONG REVENUE GROWTH DRIVEN BY RESIDENTIAL SALES

AFI Development, a leading real estate company focused on developing property in Russia, has today
announced its preliminary audited financial results for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Financial highlights:

1 Revenue for the year, including proceeds from the sale of trading properties, reached US$138.3
million (48.2% increase year-on-year):

- Sale of trading properties (residential real estate) contributed US$54.5 million

- Rental and hotel operating income declined 10.0% year-on-year to US$83.6 million,
mainly due to the rouble depreciation

- AFIMALL City contribution stood at US$66.2 million (2015: US$71.3 million), down 7.1%
year-on-year

1 Gross profit increased by 17.4% year-on-year to US$49.4 million (2015: US$42.1 million),
reflecting mainly the strong contribution from residential sales and further focus on efficiency

1 Largely due to valuation losses in H1 2016, net loss for 2016 amounted to US$47.9 million, against
a loss of US$466.7 million in 2015

1 Total gross value of portfolio of properties increased marginally to US$1.44 billion, against
US$1.43 billion as of the end of 2015

i Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of 31 December 2016 stood at US$16.7
million

Operational highlights

1 At Odinburg, all of the pre-sold apartments in Building 1 have now been delivered to customers.
The number of sale contracts signed amounted to 715 (99% of total) in Building 1 and 480 (67% of
total) in Building 2 as of 5 April 2017

1 Atthe AFI Residence Paveletskaya residential development, the main construction phase and pre-
sales of residential units continue to plan; 172uni t s ( Af | at s &) havebeen pra-goll tot me n't s
date

1 AFIMALL City has increased its occupancy to 84% and welcomed several new retailers to the Mall
during the fourth quarter:

- NOI declined to US$50.1 million in 2016, from US$53.3 million in 2015, mainly due to slightly
decreased average rent in dollar terms across the centre

1 In March 2017, the main construction phase started at AFl Residence Pochtovaya and Botanic
Garden residential projects in Moscow.

At AFI Residence Paveletskaya there are two types of oeandenti al un
commercially zoned units that, according to common market practice in Russia, are soldandref erred t o as fAapartmentso
used for permanent residence.



Commenting on todayés announcement, Lev Leviev, Execut

fRevenue growth of 48.2% for the year, supported by residential sales, stemmed from our continued focus
on development and marketing of our core residential projects. Although our macroeconomic environment
remains challenging, we are encouraged by the more positive trends in Ru s s ie@idomic indicators in
2016. We expect continued gradual recovery to positively impact Russian real estate markets. Beyond the
short-term, we believe that the Moscow real estate market continues to offer significant growth potential due
to its size, its position as the largest financial centre in Russia and as one of the largest capital cities in
Europea

FY 2016 Results Conference Call

AFI Development will hold a conference call for analysts and investors to discuss its full year 2016 results,
following their publication.

The details for the conference call are as follows:

Date: Monday, 10 April 2017

Time: 15:00 UK (17:00 Moscow)

Dial-in Tel: International: +44 (0) 20 3003 2666
UK toll free: 0808 109 0700
Us toll-free: 1 866 966 5335
Russia toll-free: 8 10 8002 4902044

Password: AFI

Please dial in 5/10 minutes prior to the commencement time giving your name, company and stating that you
are dialling into the AFI Development conference call quoting the reference AFI.

The FY 2016 investor presentation will be published on the Companyd swebsite: http://www.afi-
development.com/en/investor-relations/reports-presentations at 11.00 UK (13.00 Moscow) on 10 April 2016.

For further information, please contact:

AFI Development +7 495 796 9988
llya Kutnov, Corporate Affairs/Investments Director (Responsible for arranging the release of this
announcement)

Citigate Dewe Rogerson, London +44 20 7638 9571
David Westover

Sandra Novakov

This announcement contains inside information.

About AFI Development

Established in 2001, AFI Development is one of the leading real estate development companies operating in
Russia.

AFI Development is listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange and aims to deliver
shareholder value through a commitment to innovation and continuous project development, coupled with
the highest standards of design, construction and quality of customer service.

AFI Development focuses on developing and redeveloping high quality commercial and residential real

estate assets across Russia, with Moscow being its main market. T h e Companyds exi sti

comprises commercial projects focused on offices, shopping centres, hotels and mixed-use properties, and
residenti al projects. AFI Development 6s strategy
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lease the commercial properties or sell them for a favourable return.

AFIl Development is a leading force in urban regeneration, breathing new life into city squares and
neighbourhoods and transforming congested and underdeveloped areas into thriving new communities. The
Co mp any 6-term, |lange-gcale regeneration and city infrastructure projects establish the necessary
groundwork for the successful launch of commercial and residential properties, providing a strong base for
future.

Forward-looking Statements

This document and the documents following may contain certain A f olr wakidng st at ementso w
the Companyds financi al condition, results of operatioc
and objectives with respect to these items.

Forward-looking statements are sometimes, but not always, identified by their use of a date in the future or

such words as fAanticipateso, iai mso, Adueo, ficoul do, 1
itargetso, Afgoal 06 or fest i maokingstatémerBsyare inheeently unpredictgble,n at ur e
speculative and involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances

that will occur in the future.

There are a number of factors that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited
to, changes in the economies and markets in which the Company operates; changes in the regulatory and
competition frameworks in which the Company operates; changes in the markets from which the Company
raises finance; the impact of legal or other proceedings against or which affect the Company; and changes in
interest and exchange rates.

Any written or verbal forward-looking statements, made in this document or made subsequently, which are
attributable to the Company or persons acting on their behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the
factors referred to above. The Company does not intend to update any forward-looking statements.



Executive Chairmand Statement

In 2016, the Russian macroeconomic environment started to show signs of recovery. Higher oil prices and a
stronger rouble led to a lower than expected GDP decline of 0.8% (IMF) and moderate inflation of 5.4%. At
the same time, the negative impact of international sanctions continued to impede growth and recovery of
the economy.

In this environment, the residential real estate segment remained resilient, supported by the more
accommodating macroeconomic climate. Recovery in the retail segment was largely attributable to improved
consumer sentiment, more favourable rouble exchange rates, and continued interest from international
retailers. However, in the office segment, high vacancy rates and low delivery levels remained.

An important development for the Company in 2016 was the resolution of negotiations with VTB Bank. In
March 2016, the Bank notified the Company of a potential acceleration of the loans provided for the
AFIMALL City and Ozerkovskaya Il projects, totalling US$614 million. In September 2016, an agreement
was reached through amendment to terms of the loans and provision of additional guarantees and collaterals
for the Bank. As a result, the Company has retained all assets and was able to resume its focus on
construction and marketing of residential projects and on managing yielding commercial properties.

Our continued focus on the development of residential projects is reflected in the progress achieved at our
Odinburg development, through the completed construction of Building 2 (delivery of apartments started in
March 2017) and the ongoing construction and pre-sale of apartments at the AFI Residence Paveletskaya.
The sales of residential units have contributed US$54.5 million to our revenue in 2016. In Q1 2017,
construction commenced at our other two residential projects in Moscow: AFI Residence Pochtovaya and the
Botanic Garden.

Our vyielding properties performed well throughout 2016, given the current environment; occupancy at
AFIMALL City reached 84% and the footfall continued to grow. The hotels also performed well, with
occupancy above 75%.

Revenue in 2016 grew by 48.2% year-on-year to US$138.3 million, supported by strong residential sales.
Our gross profit increased by 17.4%, reaching US$49.4 million for the year. Nevertheless, due to valuation
losses in H1 2016, we finished the year with a net loss of US$47.9 million.

Looking to 2017, we expect market conditions to gradually improve and the general macroeconomic
environment to remain somewhat challenging. Whilst demand for commercial real estate remains subdued,
we will continue to adapt our strategy to ensure sustainable growth of our business in the future.

Valuation

As at 31 December 2016, based on the Jones LeportgtheLa Sal |
value of AFI Devel opmentdés portfolio of investment pro
portfolio of investment property under development stood at US$0.23 billion.

Consequentl vy, the total v anhainlg based ontindependert wapuationyad ef 3la s s et s
December 2016, was US$1.4 billion, compared to US$1.4 million as at 31 December 2015.

For additional information, please refer to the "Portfolio Valuation" section in the Management Discussion
and Analysis (th e MO&AO ) .

Liquidity

We ended 2016 with approximately US$16.7 million of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on
our balance sheet and a debtt o equity | evel of 81 %. Thi s position
successfully balance liquidity requirements from a number of sources.

Our financing strategy aims to maintain healthy loan-to-value levels. After delivery and commissioning, we
aim to refinance the properties at more favourable terms, including longer amortisation periods, lower
interest rates and higher principal balloon payments. Property rights and shares of property holding
companies are mainly used as collateral for the debt. We strongly prefer, whenever possible, to use non-
recourse project level financing.

For additional information, pleaser ef er t o t he ffltheyD&Adi t y0 secti on



Key developments since financial year end

Following the year-end the following key events occurred:

A In February 2017, AFI Development Plc announced that its subsidiary, Sanatory Plaza LLC (i Pl az a0 ) ,
received a |l oan from VTB Bank PJSC (AVTBO6) to finan
Spa Kislovodsk project (Athe Projecto) from its pa
February 2017. The loan, in the amount of US$22.5 million, was provided in US dollars for 5 years (the
term can be extended for an additional 5 years subject to agreement between the parties). It bears an
annual interest rate of 3 months Libor + 4.5%, has quarterly principal payments (ranging from US$260
thousand in Q3 2017 to US$822 thousand in Q3 2021), and a balloon payment of US$11.254 million
at maturity. The interest is to be paid quarterly. The loan was primarily used to repay the outstanding
debt of Pl aza to the Pr oj e cnilio,arot to acguisiion of thmpgaityi es (|
stake. The remainder of the loan was used to finance the acquisition itself: 50% equity stakes in both
Nuana Limited and Craespon Management Limited (which together control 100% of Plaza) were
purchased by AFIDev el opment 6s subsidiaries for USS$5.6 milli

A In March 2017, AFI Development announced completion of the acquisition of the remaining 5% stake
in the Tverskaya Plaza IV project from its partner, for US$1.5 million in cash. AFlI Development
acquired 5% of the shares in Beslaville Management Limited, a subsidiary holding rights to the project,
increasing its share from 95% to 100%.

A In March 2017 the Company subsidiary AFI RUS Management LLC signed a facility agreement for a
credit line of RUR470 million from Sberbank PJSC, with a 2 years term, to finance construction of the
Odinburg project.

Portfolio Update

AFIMALL City

A significant number of leases signed during 2011, when AFIMALL opened its doors to the public, expired in

2016. As a result, Mall management invested significant resources during the year in maintaining stable

occupancy levels (84% at the end of 2016) through the renewal of leases or re-leasing to new tenants.

Marketing and promotional efforts at the Mall focused on attracting a family audience at weekends, as well

as on targeted sales promotions in the fashion segment.

The footfall at the Mall continues to grow; average monthly footfall in December 2016 was 3% higher than in

December 2015.

A number of new retailers recently opened outlets at the Mall, including a furniture and home improvement

hyper mar ket Hof f Home (1,200 sqg. m); a book shop #AKnNi

boutique (170 sg.m) and an innovative confectionary sh

AQUAMARINE IlIl (OZERKOVSKAYA IlI)

Following the disposal of Building 1 to diamond miner ALROSA, AFI Development retains title to the
remaining three buildings of the complex, which have a combined GBA of 61,579 sq.m and GLA of 46,247

sg.m. The Company is currently in negotiations with potential buyers and tenants with regards to these

buildings.

HOTELS

AFI Devel opment s hospitality port f-hoteli(Aguamanre) andhtwoc onsi s

resorts in the Caucasus mineral waters region (Plaza Spa Kislovodsk and Plaza Spa Zheleznovodsk),
continued to produce strong results in 2016. The Caucasus resorts, in particular, continued to benefit from
increasing levels of Russian domestic tourism. Since February 2017, AFI Development owns 100% of the
Plaza Spa Kislovodsk project, following its acquisition of the remaining 50% stake.



ODINBURG

The construction works of Phase 1 (AKoronaodo) and
both Building 1 and Building 2 are complete. All apartments sold in Building 1 have been delivered to
customers, and delivery of apartments in Building 2 commenced in March 2017. At present, a Kindergarten
is being built as part of Phase 1, while the development team prepares the next buildings for construction
launch i these will be Building 6 (to be launched in Q2 2017) and Building 3 (to be launched in Q3 2017).

As of the date of publication of this report, 715 out of 723 contracts for sales of apartments in Building 1 have
been signed, while for Building 2, 480 of 706 contracts are signed.

AFI RESIDENCE PAVELETSKAYA (PAVELETSKAYA PHASE II)

In December 2015, AFI Development successfully launched the main construction phase of the project. Flat
and fAap A pré-salesrstared simultaneously with the construction launch. The project continues to be
mar keted as AAFI Residence Pavel etskayao. 172 sontracts

supp

e
combined forpre-s al es of both #Afl atsodo and fAapartmentso have be

BOLSHAYA POCHTOVAYA

During 2016, the Company completed all preparatory steps required to launch the main construction stage.
After receiving a construction permit in December 2016, the construction of the first phase was launched in
Q1 2017. Marketing of apartments is scheduled to start in Q2 2017.

BOTANIC GARDEN

Following revision of the project in 2016, AFI Development obtained an updated construction permit and
launched the main construction phase in March 2017. Marketing of apartments has started as well.

Market Overview i General Moscow Real Estate

Market Overview i General Moscow Real Estate
Macroeconomic Environment

With an estimated GDP decline of 0.8% (IMF), the Russian economy contracted less than expected in 2016,
as gains in oil prices impacted positively on the economy. Inflation continued to decline, reaching 5.4% by
year-end, helped by the appreciation of the rouble during the fourth quarter.

The countryb6s macroeconomic environment remai ned
disposable incomes continued to shrink by around 5-6%, causing further contractions in sales volumes and
impeding economic growth. Despite gradual improvement towards the end of the year, the Central Bank of
Russia maintained its conservative monetary policy, with the key lending rate at 10%.

As market volatility subsides, Russian real estate investment volumes continue to rise. In 2016, investment
levels reached US$4.2bn, a 74% increase versus 2015. Of this investment, 80% occurred in AFI
Devel opment 6s core market of Moscow.

(Sources: Russia Real Estate Investment Market, Q4 2016, JLL; Oxford Economics Russia Country Economic Forecast,
February 2017)

Moscow Office Market

Demand in the Moscow office market saw an improvement in 2016, reflected in the 22% year-on-year
increase in take-up to 1.06 million sg. m. At the same time, the volume of new office completions reached a
record low of 317,300 sg.m. The Class A segment was a key contributor to this decline, with new delivery at

negat
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70,500 sqg.m; four times lower than in 2015. This high demand and low supply resulted in an improvement in
the vacancy rate to 15.9%, 1.8ppts below 2015 levels (for combined Classes A and B).

Renewals and renegotiation volumes decreased in 2016, as did their contribution to total transactions, which
was at 27%, down from 39% in 2015.

US dollar denominated leases accounted only for 10% of leased space in 2016 as rouble denominated
leases continued to dominate the market. Strengthening of the rouble helped office rental rates to stabilise
during the year.

Finally, the opening of the Moscow Central Circle line (MCC) railroad during the second half of 2016
represents another key improvement in infrastructure. The new commuter train, integrated into the main
Moscow transport infrastructure, provides further access to existing offices in the Moscow-City area.

(Source: Moscow Office Market, Q4 2016, CBRE Martketview; The MCC and the Moscow Real Estate Market,
December 2016, JLL, IMF)

Moscow Retail Market

Despite delivery of 473,000 sq. m of new shopping space (2015: 441,000 sq. m), rental rates for Moscow
shopping centres remained broadly stable throughout 2016 (prime rent: RUR195,000; average rent:
RUR74,000) with vacancy rates at year-end at 10.2%.

Continued interest in the Moscow retail market is reflected in the market entry of 34 new international
retailers in 2016, the majority of which came from Italy, France and the UK.

I n addition to the office market, the opening of the
retail dynamics. The opening of a MCC station near AFIMALL City has further improved access to the Mall.

Areas surrounding MCC stations offer growth potential for real estate developers and are expected to drive

future construction and development of retail centres.

(Source: Moscow Retail Market, Q4 2016, CBRE Martketview; Moscow Shopping Centre Market, Q4 2016, JLL; The
MCC and the Moscow Real Estate Market, December 2016, JLL)

Moscow Residential Market

At the end of Q4 2016, the supply on the AOId MOo¥3cowod
was about 2.4 million sq.m (about 37,692 residential units), an increase of 2% compared to the end of Q3
2016. The supply in ANew Moscowd was about 588.2 thous

By the end of Q4 2016, the weighted avsinessglassrasgdéniiahg pr i
market amounted to RUR250,600 (US$4,030) per sq.m. Compared with the end of Q3 2016, the average

price increase in roubles was 1%. In the comfort class, the weighted average asking price was RUR156,000
(US$2,510) per sg.m.

The level of mortgage financed acquisitions of residential units increased by 32.6% in 2016 versus 2015, due
to continued state support through the mortgage lending support programme (introduced in 2015) and a wide
spectrum of special offers by developers.

(Sources: Miel Real Estate i Overview of newly built housing of Moscow, January 2017, Blackwood i Overview of the
Moscow Residential Market, Q4 2016)

Board of Directors
The Directors of AFI Development as at the date of this announcement are as set out below:
Mr. Lev Leviev, Executive Chairman of the Board

Mr. Panayiotis Demetriou, Senior Non-Executive Independent Director
Mr. David Tahan, Non-Executive Independent Director

Lev Leviev
Executive Chairman of the Board

7 April 2017



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

As at 31 December 2016, the Companyds poréa ifivestmerd
properties under development, 2 trading properties under development, 1 inventory of real estate and 4 hotel
projects. The portfolio comprises commercial projects focused on offices, shopping centres, hotels and
mixed-use properties, as well as residential projects, in prime locations in Moscow. The total value of the
Companyds a d predonsinanthyboa snéependent valuation as of 31 December 2016, was US$1.4
billion®. About 64% of the assets book value is attributed to yielding properties.

Revenues for 2016 increased by 48.2% year-on-year to US$138.3 million, mainly as a result of residential
disposals. The average exchange rate of RUB to USD increased by 10.0% during 2016. AFI Development
recorded a 17% year-on-year decrease in gross profit to US$49.4 million as a result of this. Cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities decreased by 60.7% to US$16.7 million as at 31 December 2016, due
to debt servicing and financing of construction work partly from own capital, and as a result of a sale of
bonds in the amount of US$18.1 million and US$4.2 million worth of bonds maturing during the period.

In 2016, AFI Development incurred a net loss of US$47.9 million, compared to net loss of US$466.7 in 2015.
Key Factors Affecting our Financial Results

Our results have been affected, and are expected to be affected in the future, by a variety of factors,
including, but not limited to, the following:

Macroeconomic Factors

Our properties and projects are mainly located in the Russian Federation. As a result, Russian
macroeconomic trends and country-specific risks significantly influence our performance.

The following table sets out certain macroeconomic information for the Russian Federation as of and for the
dates indicated:

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
December 2016, % December 2015, %
Real Gross Domestic Product growth -0.8 -3.8
Consumer prices growth (inflation) 7.2 15.5

Source: The International Monetary Fund

The following factors affected our performance in 2016:

1 In Q1 and Q2 2016, the Company transferred the pre-sold apartments in Building 1 of the Odinburg
project to customers, allowing it to recognise revenue from sales of residential units in the amount
of $54.0 million.

i1 Due to an agreement reached with VTB Bank PJSC in September 2016, the Company did not
make principal payments in Q2, Q3 and Q4 under the loan agreements at the Ozerkovskaya Il and
AFIMALL City projects, which resulted in cash outflow reduction of US$ 25.2 million for 2016.

3 According to the IFRS rules, Investment property and Investment property under development are presented on a fair value basis,
Trading property, Trading property under construction and Property, plant and equipment are presented on a cost basis.

cons



Key Portfolio Updates

YIELDING ASSETS

AFIMALL City

AFIMALL City is a major retail centre located in the high-rise business district of Moscow, fi Mo-€ic b wo .

With a total GBA of nearly 283,182 sg.m (including parking), and GLA of nearly 107,000 sg.m, the project

has a shopping gallery of nearly 400 shops and an 11-screen movie theatre with a number of additional
outstanding leisure facilites. AF1 MALL City i s one of Europeds | arge
developments in recent years. The Mall introduces a new standard of quality to the Russian retail sector and

offers visitors a combined shopping, dining and entertainment experience unmatched in any other retail
development in Moscow.

Many leases that began in 2011 (the opening year of AFIMALL) expired and had to be renewed in 2016. Mall
management achieved stable occupancy levels (84% at the end of 2016) through the renewal of leases or
re-leasing to new tenants.

Marketing and promotional efforts at the Mall focused on attracting a family audience at weekends, as well
as on targeted sales promotions in the fashion segment.

The footfall at the Mall continues to grow; average monthly footfall in December 2016 was 3% higher than in
December 2015.

A number of new retailers recently opened outlets at the Mall: a furniture and home improvement
hyper mar ket Hof f Home (1,200 sqg. m); a book shop #AKni
boutque (170 sg.m) and an innovative confectionary shop

The transportation infrastructure in the Moscow City continued to improve in 2016: the new central ring
railroad began operations in September, withastati on A Ci tyo in close vicinity to

According to independent appraisers JLL, the market value of AFIMALL City as of 31 December 2016 was
US$666.5 million.

AQUAMARINE IIl (OZERKOVSKAYA 111)

Ozerkovskaya (Aquamarine) Ill is an office complex forming part of t he fi Augeu a mar i
development, located on the Ozerkovskaya embankment in the very heart of the historical Zamoskvorechie

district of Moscow. The project consists of three Class A buildings of 46,247 sgq.m of combined lettable

space4 and common underground parking for 446 cars. The project creates very attractive working

conditions through state-of-the-art architecture, innovative design and efficient use of space. Due to these
characteristics, i Aguamar i ne ylahdl ad aspiratiorsal emvieommerst araongd ar d s
Moscowds commercial devel opment s.

AFI Development is in negotiations with potential buyers and tenants regarding selling or leasing the project
either in full or in parts.

According to independent appraisers JLL, the market value of the remaining buildings of the Complex as of
31 December 2016 was US$198.5 million.

HOTELS

The Company6s portfolio includes three hospitality pro
the Caucasus Mineral Waters region.

AQUAMARINE HOTEL

The Aquamarine Hot el is a moder n, 4 star hot el | ocat ec
mixed-use Aquamarine development, which also houses an A-class office centre Aguamarine Il and
completed elite residential complex Aquamarine Il.

The Hotel provides high level services and offers 159 spacious rooms, a fitness-centre, spa-centre, bar,
restaurant, and conference rooms. It is located in the Zamoskvorechie district which is a 20 minute walk from
both the Kremlin and the Tretyakov Gallery and a 5 minute walk from the Novokuznetskaya and
Tretyakovskaya metro stations. The Hotel has added to the infrastructure of the historical district and is
convenient for both business travellers and tourists.

“ After the disposal of Building 1 to ALROSA in 2013.



Despite slowdown in international business activity in Moscow and growing competition, the hotel
demonstrated strong performance in 2016, with average occupancy at 76%.

The balance sheet value of the project as of 31 December 2016 was US$15.3 million.
PLAZA SPA HOTEL ZHELEZNOVODSK

Plaza Spa Zheleznovodsk is a sanatorium project which was launched in the summer of 2012 and is located
in Zheleznovodsk, in the Caucasus mineral waters region. The hotel comprises 134 guest rooms on 9,526
sg.m of gross buildable area. The spa provides diagnostic assessment and treatment of urological diseases.

During 2016 the hotel performed well, with strong occupancy levels which reached an average of 76% for the
year. The hotel continued to benefit from the growing domestic demand for quality resorts.

The balance sheet value of the project as of 31 December 2016 was US$11.1 million.
PLAZA SPA KISLOVODSK

The Plaza Spa is located in the city centre of Kislovodsk, in the Caucasus mineral waters region. The facility
began operations in 2008 after a full reconstruction and now has a total of 275 rooms spread over 25,000
sq.m.

Today, the Plaza Spa Kislovodsk is a popular spa hotel which has established new standards of quality and
hospitality for the entire region. It offers an extensive range of medical services focused on the treatment of
cardiac diseases. Diagnostic and treatment equipment is continually updated and staff regularly attend
training sessions for new methods of treatment to aid patient rehabilitation.

Similarly to Plaza Spa Zheleznovodsk, the hotel demonstrated strong performance, with average annual
occupancy at 78% for the year.

Since February 2017, AFI Development owns 100% of the project, after acquiring a 50% stake from its
partner.

The balance sheet value of the Company share in the project (50%) as of 31 December 2016 was US$13.8
million.

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
ODINBURG

I n October 2013, AFI Devel opment began construction

residential projects with a total area of over 33 hectares located 11 km west of Moscow in the town
Odintsovo.

The development is planned to include multi-functional infrastructure comprising of two schools, two
kindergartens, a medical centre and other facilities.

The project involves construction of a multi-storey residential micro district consisting of two phases:

Phase | i Construction of a 22-section residential building named Korona (Crown) and of the infrastructure
for the kindergartens and schools. This will have a total sellable area of 154,774 sgq.m (2,712 apartments);

Phase Il i Construction of 8 residential buildings and of infrastructure for the kindergartens, schools and
outdoor multi-level parking. This will have a total sellable area of 307,226 sq.m (6,474 apartments). Each
phase includes commercial premises on the ground floor that are planned to be sold to end users.

Phase 1 (AKoronaod) construction and supporting
Construction of both Building 1 and Building 2 are complete. All apartments sold in Building 1 have been
delivered to customers, and delivery of apartments in Building 2 commenced in March 2017. At present, a
Kindergarten is being built as part of Phase 1, while the development team prepares the next buildings for
construction launch i these will be Building 6 (to be launched in Q2 2017) and Building 3 (to be launched in
Q3 2017).

As of the date of publication of this report, 715 out of 723 contracts for sales of apartments in Building 1 have
been signed, while for Building 2, 480 of 706 contracts are signed.

The balance sheet value of the project as of 31 December 2016 was US$150.2 million.
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PAVELETSKAYA Il (AFI RESIDENCE PAVELETSKAYA)

Paveletskaya Phase Il is a modern residential complex in proximity to Moscow city centre on Paveletskaya
Embankment. The project is located in Danilovsky Subdistrict (the South Administrative district of Moscow),
between the Garden ring and the Third Transportation Ring and is easily accessible by private or public
transport. The property is currently under construction.

The project consists of three phases:

Phase | i includes several residential buildings with total General Buildable Area (GBA) of 50,370 sq.m and
total General Sellable Area (GSA) of 30,824 sg.m. This phase is planned to include 175 flats, 220
apartments and 5,847 sq.m of flexible commercial space.

Phase Il 7 is planned to have GBA of 52,080 sg.m and total GSA of 27,593 sg.m. This phase is planned to
include flats and 1,403 sq.m of flexible commercial space.

Phase Il T is planned to have GBA of 31,060 sq.m and total GSA of 20,452 sq.m. This phase is planned to
include flats and 9,842 sq.m of flexible commercial space.

At AFI Residence Paveletskaya there are two types of residential units: fully residentially zoned units referred
t o as amdfcdmmeraally zoned units that, according to common market practice in Russia, are sold and
referred to as fapartmentso and <can-sdéleesusefd Bbotrh prefl
Afapartment sdo started si mul t aadhels of the date of ipublitatidn lofehisecepant,s t r u c t
172 contractsforpre-s al es of both #Afl atsodo and fAapartmentso have b

The balance sheet value of the project as of 31 December 2016 was US$76.7 million.
BOLSHAYA POCHTOVAYA (AFI RESIDENCE POCHTOVAYA)

Bolshaya Pochtovaya is a mixed-use project (predominantly residential). It is located in an attractive
neighbourhood in the central administrative district of Moscow. The area benefits from a developed
infrastructure: transport, shops and cultural/leisure amenities as well as a nearby river which significantly
enhances the views from the project. It boasts a GBA of 136,581 sq.m on a land area of 5.65 hectares. The
construction will be realised in four phases:

Phase | 1 includes several residential buildings with total General Buildable Area (GBA) of 40,788 sq.m and
total General Sellable Area (GSA) of 25,969 sq.m. This phase is planned to include apartments, 8,578 sq.m
of flexible commercial space and a kindergarten.

Phase Il i is planned to have GBA of 37,373 sg.m and total GSA of 21,483 sg.m. This phase is planned to
include apartments and 3,382 sqg.m of flexible commercial space.

Phase Il T is planned to have GBA of 35,629 sq.m and total GSA of 22,719 sq.m. This phase is planned to
include apartments and 2,953 sg.m of flexible commercial space.

Phase IV 1 is planned to have GBA of 22,792 sg.m and total GSA of 14,744 sg.m. This phase is planned to
include apartments and 1,002 sg.m of retail space.

During 2016 the Company completed all preparatory steps required to launch the main construction stage.
After receiving a permit in December 2016, the construction of the first phase was launched in Q1 2017. The
marketing of apartments is scheduled to start in Q2 2017.

Based on an independent valuation of the Company portfolio by JLL as of 31 December 2016, the fair value
of Bolshaya Pochtovaya is US$74.1 million.

BOTANIC GARDEN

Botanic Garden is a residential project, located in the North-Eastern Administrative District of Moscow,
approximately 8 km from the Third Transportation Ring, near the major transportation route of the district
Prospect Mira, within walking distance of Botanicheskuiy Sad and Sviblovo metro stations. The future
residential complex has a land plot of 3.2 Ha and a gross building (GBA) of 200,6355 sg.m: 107,350 sg.m of
residential area, 8,611 sg.m of commercial premises and 794 underground and above ground parking lots.

Following revision of the project in 2016, AFI Development obtained an updated construction permit and
launched the main construction phase in March 2017.

The balance sheet value of the project as of 31 December 2016 was US$21.5 million.

° According to the updated City development plan
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TVERSKAYA PLAZA IC

Tverskaya Plaza Ic is a Class A office development complex located in the cultural and business quarter of
the Tverskoy sub-district. The complex is located within a 4-minute walk of Belorusskaya metro station,
which serves as the main transport hub 1l inkingi
Sheremetievo International Airport. The project has a GBA of 61,810 sg.m (including underground parking of
approximately 521 parking spaces) and an estimated GLA of 37,035 sg.m

Following the registration of a 10-year land lease agreement, the Company successfully finalised the
development concept, received the necessary construction permit and completed all pre-construction works.
AFI Developments plans to start construction of this project as soon as it has secured debt financing on
favourable terms and the market situation improves.

Based on an independe nt val uation of the Companyb6s portf ol
2016, the fair value of Tverskaya Plaza Ic is US$66.0 million.

TVERSKAYA PLAZA IV

Plaza IV is a Class A office development with supporting ground level retail zones, located at 11, Gruzinsky
Val. The project has a GBA of 108,000 sg.m (including underground parking) and an estimated GLA of
61,350 sg.m

The Company has completed necessary steps for securing the land lease agreement with Moscow
authorities.

Based on an independent valuation of the Company portfolio by Jones Lang LaSalle, as of 31 December
20186, the fair value of the Company share in Plaza IV (95%) was US$61.3 million.

KOSSINSKAYA

Kossinskaya is mixed-use building totalling 108,528 sq.m with nine aboveground floors and a single
underground level. The property was constructed in 2005.

Based on an independent valuation of the Company portfolio by JLL as of 31 December 2016, the fair value
of Kossinskaya is US$28.3 million.

LAND BANK

In addition to multiple yielding properties and projects under development, AFlI Development also has a land
bank which consists of projects that are not currently under development.

By retaining full flexibility regarding future development of these projects, the Company remains well placed
to benefit from further recovery in the regional real estate markets. Given its strong track record in bringing
projects to completion, this represents a significant competitive advantage for AFI Development.

AF I Devel opment éspectdctits lant leagkyis tonactitvate projects only upon securing necessary
financing and having full confidence in the demand levels of prospective tenants or buyers.

Key Events Subsequent to 31 December 2016

Following the year-end the following key events occurred:

1 In February 2017, AFl Development Plc announced that its subsidiary, Sanatory Plaza LLC
(APl azao), received a |l oan from VTB Bank PJSC

t

he

the Plaza Spa Ki sl ovod snkits partreef iretleetProjéchi whick waB completed t 0 )

on 28 February 2017. The loan, in the amount of US$22.5 million, was provided in US dollars for 5
years (the term can be extended for an additional 5 years subject to agreement between the parties).
It bears an annual interest rate of 3 months Libor + 4.5%, has quarterly principal payments (ranging
from US$260 thousand in Q3 2017 to US$822 thousand in Q3 2021), and a balloon payment of
US$11.254 million at maturity. The interest is to be paid quarterly. The loan was primarily used to

by

(AVT

f

I

repay the outstanding debt of Plaza to the Project
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acquisition of the equity stake. The remainder of the loan was used to finance the acquisition itself:
50% equity stakes in both Nuana Limited and Craespon Management Limited (which together

contr ol 100% of Pl aza) were purchased by AFI Deve
cash.
1 In March 2017, AFI Development announced completion of the acquisition of the remaining 5%
stake in the Tverskaya Plaza IV project from its partner, for US$1.5 million in cash. AFI Development
acquired 5% of the shares in Beslaville Management Limited, a subsidiary holding rights to the
project, increasing its share from 95% to 100%.
1 In March 2017 the Company subsidiary AFI RUS Management LLC signed a facility agreement for a
credit line of RUR470 million from Sherbank PJSC, with a 2 years term, to finance construction of
the Odinburg project.
Disposals and Acquisitions
During 2016, the Company disposed of a building on Sadovaya Samotechnaya Street in Moscow, which was
purchased in 2014 in relation to the Botanic Garden Project: The Company subsidiary ZAO fi Mos k ov sk
tkatsko-otdelochny kombinat d&sold the building on 7 April 2016 for RUR86 million including VAT
(approximately US$1.3 million).
During 2016, the Company did not make any acquisitions.
Presentation of Financial Information
Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ( Al FRS0), as adopted by the European Union (AEUO)

of Cyprus, Cap. 113. IFRS differs in various material respects from US GAAP and UK GAAP.
Financial policies and practices

Revenue Recoghnition

The key elements of our revenue recognition policies are as follows:

1 Rental income. We recognise rental income from leased investment properties under operating
leases in our statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the term of the
lease. Rental income also includes income from hotel operations.

1 Income from hotel operations. Income from hotel operations comprises of accommodation,
treatments and other services offered at the hotels operated by the Group, as well as sales of food
and beverages, and are recognised on acceptance of the service by the client.

1 Sales of trading properties. We recognise revenue from the sales of trading properties in our
statement of comprehensive income when the risks and rewards of ownership of the property are
transferred to the buyer. When we receive down payments in connection with the sale of trading
property that is under construction, we record this figure in current liabilities on our balance sheet at
the time of sale.

1 Construction Management fee. Revenue from construction management is recognised in profit or
loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of
completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses consist mainly of employee wages, social benefits and property operating expenses,
including property tax, which are directly attributable to revenues. We recognise as expenses in our
statement of comprehensive income the costs of employees who have provided construction consulting and
construction management services with respect to our investment and trading properties. We also recognise
property operating costs (including outsourced building maintenance), utilities, security and other tenant
services related to our properties that generate rental income, as expenses on our statement of

13



comprehensive income.
Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses comprise primarily of general and administrative expenses such as, audit and
consulting, marketing costs, charity, travelling and entertainment, office equipment, as well as depreciation
expenses related to our office use motor vehicles, bad debt provisions and other provisions.

Profit on disposal of investment in subsidiaries

We recognise profit or loss from the sale of interests in our subsidiaries when the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the buyer in the transaction.

Share of the after tax (loss)/profit of joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the
net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost,

which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements
include the Groupbs shar e of -atchumtedpnvestees,untildhe datemswhicand OC
joint control ceases.

Gross Profit

Grossprof it i s the result of the Groupbs operations and c¢
for trading properties sold and operating, administrative and other expenses, recognised in profit or loss
during the year.

Revaluation of investment property

An external, independent valuation company (with appropriate recognised professional qualifications and
recent experience i n t he l ocati on and categories of
investment property portfolio every six months. The fair values are based on market values, being the
estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation in a transaction

between a willing buyer and a willing seller after proper marketing, wherein the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The difference between revalued fair value of investment

property and its book value is recognised as gain or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

Operating profit before net finance costs

Operating profit before net finance costs is calculated by adding revenue, other income, profit on disposal of
investment in subsidiaries and valuation gains on investment property, and subtracting operating expenses,
administrative expenses and other expenses.

Finance income

Our finance income comprises net foreign exchange gain, if any, and interest income. We recognise foreign
exchange gains and losses, principally in connection with US Dollar or other foreign currency denominated
payables and receivables of our Russian subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the Russian Rouble. Our
interest income is derived primarily from interest on our bank deposits and interest on loans to our joint
ventures.

Finance expenses

Our finance expense comprises net foreign exchange loss, if any, and interest expense on outstanding loans
less interest capitalised. We recognise foreign exchange gains and losses principally in connection with US
Dollar denominated payables and receivables of our Russian subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the
Russian Rouble. We capitalise our interest expense with respect to our development projects that are under
construction, for which amounts are not reflected as expenses in our statement of comprehensive income.
When funds are borrowed specifically for a particular project, we capitalize all actual borrowing costs related
to the project less income earned on the temporary investment of such borrowings and when funding for a
project is obtained from our general funds, we capitalise only funding costs related to the particular project
based on the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to our general funds. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in process and expenditures and
borrowing costs are incurred. Capitalisation of borrowing costs may continue until the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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Foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities is reported on a net basis as either
finance income or finance expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or
net loss position.

Income tax expense

Income taxes are calculated based on tax legislation applicable to the country of residence of each of our
subsidiaries and, as a company based and organised in Cyprus, we are subject to income tax in Cyprus. We
and our Cypriot subsidiaries are currently subject to a statutory corporate income tax rate of 12.5% in
Cyprus. Our Russian subsidiaries were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20%.

Capitalisation of Costs for Properties under Development

We capitalise all costs directly related to the purchase and construction of properties developed as both
investment properties and trading properties, including costs to acquire land rights and premises, design
costs, permit costs, costs of general contractors, costs relating to the lease of the underlying land and the
majority of employee costs related to such projects.

In addition, we capitalise financing costs related to development projects only during the period of
construction. We do not, however, commence the capitalising of financing costs related to expenditures on a
project wuntil construction has begun. Since the
completion of construction works, property classified as investment property under development (which are
those properties that are being constructed or developed for future use to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation) is appraised to market value and reclassified as an investment property and any gain or loss on
appraisal is recognised in our statement of comprehensive income. Trading properties, which include those
projects where we intend to sell the entire project as a whole or in part (this principally includes our
residential development projects), are represented on our balance sheet at the lower of cost and net
realizable value, which is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and sale.

Exchange Rates

Our consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is our functional currency. The
functional currency of our Russian subsidiaries and joint ventures and one Cyprus company is the Russian
Rouble. The balance sheets of our Russian subsidiaries are translated into US Dollars in accordance with
IAS 21, whereby assets and liabilities are translated into US Dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date and income and expense items are translated into US Dollars at the average exchange
rate for the period. If the volatility of the exchange rates is high for a given year or period, the Company uses
the average rate for shorter periods i.e. quarters or months for income and expense items. All resulting
foreign currency exchange rate differences are recognised directly in our shareholders' equity under the line
item Atranslation reserve.o

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. The monetary assets and liabilities of our Russian subsidiaries that
are denominated in currencies other than Russian Roubles are initially recorded by our subsidiaries at the
exchange rate between the Russian Rouble and such foreign currency prevailing at such date. Such
monetary assets and liabilities are then retranslated into Russian Roubles at the exchange rate prevailing at
each subsequent balance sheet date. We recognise the resulting exchange rate differences between the
dates at which such assets or liabilities were originally recorded and at subsequent balance sheet dates as
foreign exchange losses and gains in our statement of comprehensive income. In particular, during the
period under review, we have recognised foreign exchange rate gains and losses in connection with US
Dollar denominated payables and receivables of our Russian subsidiaries.

Recovery of VAT

We pay VAT to the Russian authorities with respect to construction costs and expenses incurred in
connection with our projects, which, according to Russian tax law, can be recovered upon completion of
construction. Under a revised Russian VAT legislation, VAT can also be claimed during the period of
construction provided that all required documentation is presented to the VAT authorities. We have
accordingly included recoverable VAT as an asset on our balance sheet, the size of which we expect will
slightly decrease as the development of our projects advances and necessary documents will be obtained.

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
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liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Under Russian tax law, capitalisation of certain costs in relation to the design, construction and financing of
projects that are capitalised for the purposes of consolidated financial statements under IFRS is not allowed.
As a result, our tax bases in the related assets may be lower than our accounting bases for IFRS purposes,
which would result in deferred tax liabilities. However, the recognition of such costs as expenses may result
in accumulated tax losses for Russian tax purposes that we may be able to carry forward against estimated
future profits, resulting in deferred tax assets. However, such tax losses may only be carried forward to offset
gains for a ten-year period and they may only be utilised in the Russian subsidiary/branch in which such tax
losses were generated.

Measurement of fair values

Our future results of operations may be affected by our measurement of the fair value of our investment
properties and changes in the fair value of such properties. Upon completion of construction, the projects
that we have classified as investment property under development are reassessed at fair value and
reclassified as investment property, and any gain or loss as a result of reassessment is recognised in our
statement of comprehensive income.

Any change in fair value of the investment property under development is thereafter recognised as a gain or
loss in the statement of comprehensive income. Accordingly, fair value measurements of investment
properties under development may significantly affect results of operations even if the Company does not
dispose of such assets.

We have an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This includes a
valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including
Level 3 fair values and reports directly to the CFO. The valuation team regularly reviews significant
unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing
services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team assesses the evidence obtained from the
third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of IFRS, including the level
in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.
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Results of Operations

Description of Statement of comprehensive income Line Items

Summary of statement of comprehensive income for 2016 and 2015

US$ million For the year For the year Change 2016/ 2015
ended 31 ended 31
December December
2016 2015
Revenue
Construction
consulting/management
services 0.2 0.1 0.1 48.2%
Rental income
83.6 92.9 (9.3) (10.0)%
Sale of residential
54.5 0.7 53.8 7980.0%
138.3 93.7 44.6 47.6%
Expenses
Other income
3.5 3.1 0.5 16.9%
Operating expenses
(38.8) (40.5) 1.7 (4.1)%
Administrative expenses
(6.6) (10.6) 4.1 (38.1)%
including Bad debt
provisions and write-offs 1.3 0.1 1.2 1218.0%
Cost of sales of
residential (49.5) (0.6) (48.9) 8025.3%
Other expenses
(1.3) (1.6) 0.3 (19.3)%
(92.7) (50.4) (42.3) 84.0%
Share of the after tax
(loss)/profit of joint 51
ventures 3.7 (1.3) ' (383.1)%
Gross profit 49.4 42.1 7.3 17.4%
Profit on disposal of
investments in 18
subsidiaries 1.8 - ' 1815.2%
Valuation loss on
properties (123.0) (434.4) 311.3 (71.1Y%
Impairment loss on
inventory of real estate - (12.7) 12.7 (100.0)%
Results from operating
activities (71.9) (404.9) 333.0 (82.2)%
Finance income
2.1 4.2 (2.1) (49.2)%
Finance expense
(44.6) (46.2) 1.6 (3.4)%
FX Gain/( Loss)
63.7 (110.3) 174.0 (157.7)%
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Net finance
income/(costs) 21.2 (152.3) 173.5 (113.9)%
Profit before income tax

(50.7) (557.2) 506.5 (90.3)%
Income tax expense

2.8 90.5 (87.8) (97.0)%

Loss from continuing
operations (47.9) (466.7) 418.7 (89.7)%

Revenue i General Overview

To date, we have derived revenues from three sources: rental income, sale of residential properties and
construction consulting and management fees.

Rental income

We derive rental income from our investment properties and hotels that we acquired or developed in the

past.
For the year For the year Change 2016/2015
US$ million ended 31 ended 31 — o
December 2016 | December 2015 US$ million /0%
Investment property
AFIMALL City 66.2 71.3 (5.1) (7.1)%
H20 office building 0.9 1.2 (0.3) (23.8)%
Berezhkovskya office o
building 1.8 2.3 (0.6) (24.3)%
Paveletskaya | 0.0 1.4 (1.3) (96.8)%
Premises at Bolshaya o
Pochtovaya 1.0 2.7 (1.7) (61.9)%
Premises at Plaza IV o
(Gruzinsky Val) 0.0 0.0 (0.0 (9.5)%
Premises at Tverskaya o
Zastava Square 1.7 1.9 (0.2) (8.9)%
Ozerkovskaya 0
(Aquamarine) Il 0.5 0.6 (0.2) (25.1)%
Other land bank assets 0.1 0.2 (0.1) (36.0)%
Hotels
Aquamarine hotel 5.0 5.1 (0.2) 2.71%
Plaza Spa Hotel o
(Zheleznovodsk) 6.3 6.2 0.1 1.6%
Total 83.6 92.9 (9.3) (10.0)%
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Sale of residential

For the year For the year Change 2016/2015
US$ million ended 31 ended 31 " oo
December 2016 | December 2015 US$ million Y0%
Revenue
Ozerkovskaya I 0.5 0.6 0.1) (23.3)%
4 Winds residential - 0.1 (0.1) 100.0%
Odinburg 54.0 - 54.0 100.0%
Total 54.5 0.7 53.8 7980.0%

Sale of residential. Our income from sale of residential increased by US$53.8 million, from US$0.7 million in
2015 to US$54.5 million in 2016, due to sale of residential units in the Odinburg project.

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses decreased by 4.1% year-on-year to US$38.8 million in 2016
(2015: US$40.5 million), as a result of cost savings.

Administrative expenses. Our administrative expenses decreased by 38.1 % year-on-year to US$6.6
million in 2016 (2015: US$10.6 million). The decrease is attributable to increase in reverse of bad debt
provision from USO0.1 in 2015 to US$1.3 in 2016, as well as other cost saving initiatives across the Company.

Net valuation gain/(losses) on properties. Net result of investment property valuation changed from a loss
of US$434.4 million in 2015 to a loss of US$123.0 million in 2016. For additional information, please refer to
APortfolio Valuationo section bel ow.

Impairment loss on inventory of real estate. Net result of real estate impairment increased from a loss of
US$12.7 million in 2015 to US$0.0 million in 2016 due to reversal of the Botanic Garden project from
Investment of real estate to Trading property under construction, and corresponding change in recognition
policy. For additional information, please refer

Finance income. Our finance income decreased by 49.2 % year-on-year to US$2.1 million in 2016 (2015:
US$4.2 million). The decrease was a result of the change in the Company financial investments portfolio.

Finance expense. Our finance expense decreased by 3.4 % year-on-year to US$44.6 million in 2016 (2015:
US$46.2 million), as a result of Russian Rouble devaluation versus the US Dollar (the average exchange
rate of RUB to USD increased by 10.0% during 2016.

FX Gain/(Loss). We recorded a foreign exchange gain of US$63.7 million in 2016, against a loss of
US$110.3 million in 2015. This was a result of Russian Rouble appreciation versus the US Dollar during
2016.

Income tax expense. Our current tax expense decreased to a reverse of US$0.6 million compared to
accrual of US$0.8million in 2015. This was due to correction of tax expenses in a Group company for a prior
year.

Profit/Loss for the year. Due to the factors described above, we recorded a US$47.9 million net loss for
2016 compared to net loss of US$466.7 million for 2015.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows
Summary of cash flows for 2016 and 2015
US$ thousand For the year ended | For the year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015

Net cash from operating activities 35,185 34,374
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 9,126 (14,815)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (58,035) (80,003)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 2,202 233
Net .|ncrease/(decrease) in cash and cash (15,926) (60,211)
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 26,545 86,756
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December* 10,619 26,545

* Note: the cash and cash equivalents do not include US$6.1 million (2015: US$15.9 million) fair value of marketable securities.

Net cash from operating activities

Net cash from operating activities increased to US$35.2 million in 2016, from US$34.4 million in 2015. The
increase is attributable to the fact that sales of residential units in Odinburg, nominated in Russian rouble,
created higher USD positive cash flow due to rouble appreciation.

Net cash from investing activitiesNet cash inflow from investing activities amounted to US$ 9.1 million and
is attributable to cash receipt from the sale and maturity of investments in marketable securities.

Net cash used in financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities increased to a negative US$58.0 million in 2016 from a negative
US$80.0 million in 2015 due to Company repayment of part of principal amount and interests during 2016.

Capital Resources
Capital Requirements

We require capital to finance capital expenditures, consisting of cash outlays for capital investments in active
real estate development projects; repayment of debt; changes in working capital; and general corporate
activities.

Real estate development is a capital-intensive business, and we expect to have significant ongoing liquidity
and capital requirements in order to finance our active development projects.

For the foreseeable future, we expect that we will continue to rely on our financing activities to support our
investing and operating activities. We also expect that our capital expenditures in connection with the
development of real estate properties will comprise the majority of our cash outflows for the foreseeable
future.

AFI Development ended 2016 with of approximately US$16.7 million in cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities on our balance sheet and a debt® to equity level of 81%.

The Companyds financing strategy aims to maxi mi
construction while maintaining healthy loan-to-value levels. After delivery and commissioning, the aim is to
refinance properties at more favourable terms, including longer amortisation periods, lower interest rates and
higher principal balloon payments. Property rights and shares of property holding companies are mainly used
as collateral for the debt. We strongly prefer, whenever possible, to use non-recourse project level financing.

® Debt includes all loans and borrowings. For further details please see note 28 to the Financial Statements.
20
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As of December 31, 2016 our debt portfolio was as follows:

Total
balance
Max debt as of Maturity
. Lending limit Dec-31 Available Nominal Curren
Project ec-31,
bank (US$ mn) | Interestrate cy
2016
uss
US$ mn ( dd.mm.
US$ mn) 1 ) ( yy)
159.1 0 9.5% RUR
AFIMALL City | VTBBank | RUR21 01.04.2018
JSC billion
3-month LIBOR
276.9 S 02% us$
Krown
Investments VTJBSBC""”" 220.0 1915 0 3-month LIBOR | ysg 26.01.2018

The total balance of secured debt financing reached US$627.5 million as at 31 of December 2016, including
US$627.1 million of Principal Debt and US$0.4 million of accrued interest with average interest rate 7.74%
per annum as at 31.12.2016 (7.28% per annum as at 31.12.2015) (for more details see note 28 to our
consolidated financial statements).

As at 31 December 2016, our loans and borrowings were payable as follows:

As at 31 As at 31
US$ thousand December 2016 | December 2015
Less than one year 0.7 224,315
Between one and five years 627,074 389,799
Total 627,822 614,114

Portfolio Valuation

From the current reporting period onwards, Jones Lang
Company independent appraisers. As at 31 Decemb e r 2016, based on the JLL in
report, the value of AFI Development 6s portfolio of in
value of the portfolio of investment property under development stood at US$232.9 million.

Consequently, the total value of the Companyds assets,

31 December 2016, remained unchanged year-on-year at US$1.4 billion.
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Valuation Valuation Change in Balance sheet Balance sheet
Property 31/12/2016, 31/12/2015, valuation, value 31/12/2016, value 31/12/2015,
US Dollars US Dollars % US Dollars US Dollars
Investment property
1 H20 9,223,126’ 8,925,606 3% 9,300,000 9,000,000
2 Ozerkovskaya Phase I 198,500,000 199,300,000 0% 198,500,000 199,300,000
3 Berezhkovskaya 12,136,000° 11,470,000 6% 16,400,000 15,500,000
4 AFIMALL City 666,500,000 685,200,000 -3% 666,500,000 685,200,000
5 Paveletskaya | 11,900,808° 11,504,114 3% 12,000,000 11,600,000
6 Plaza Il 9,200,000 9,200,000 0% 9,200,000 9,200,000
7 Plaza Ib 3,450,000 3,400,000 1% 3,450,000 3,400,000
8 gzmltz{?ﬁaya - 500,000 -100% - 500,000
Total 910,909,934 929,499,720 -2% 915,350,000 933,700,000
Investment property under development
9 Plaza Ic 66,000,000 65,500,000 1% 66,000,000 65,500,000
10 Plazalla - 1,900,000 -100% - 1,900,000
11  PlazalVv 61,275,000" 65,170,000 -6% 64,500,000 68,600,000
12 Kossinskaya 28,300,000 27,800,000 2% 28,300,000 27,800,000
13  Bolshaya Pochtovaya 73,885,110" 71,460,000 4% 74,100,000 71,460,000
Total 229,460,110 231,830,000 -1% 232,900,000 235,260,000
Trading property & Trading property under development
14 Odinburg n/a n/a - 150,181,009 148,452,242
15  Ozerkovskaya Il n/a n/a - 1,791,074 2,062,354
16  Paveletskaya Phase Il n/a 55,477,60012 - 76,666,586 55,940,000
17  Botanic Garden n/a n/a - 21,542,643 -
Total - 55,477,600 -100% 250,181,313 206,454,596
Inventory of real estate
18  Botanic Garden - 18,570,000 -100% - 18,570,000
Total - 18,570,000 -100% - 18,570,000
Land Bank Properties
19 Ruza n/a n/a - - 3,665,000
Total - - 0% - 3,665,000
Hotels
20  Aquamarine Hotel n/a n/a - 15,289,552 13,075,377
21 E:gﬁf dp;ﬂc’te' in n/a n/a - 13,823,785 11,560,988
2o Diazaspa ot nia na : 11,095,402 9,093,415
23 Eiﬁ‘;\i}'g‘zﬁ hotel in n/a n/a - 3,947,127 3,319,081
Total - - - 44,155,866 37,048,861
Grand Total 1,140,370,044 1,235,377,320 -8% 1,442,587,178 1,434,698,457
Val uation figures rep3d9a®ent Companyds share (
SValuation figures repié®gnt Companyds share (
°Val uation figures represent Companyo6s share (99.17%)
9 valuation figures represent Company 6 s s h0@%)e ( 95
'Valuation figures represent Companyds share (99.71%)
“vValuation figures repra®@nt Companyds share (99.

2 The project portfolio includes 50% owned joint ventures, which are accounted for by equity method
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Principal Business Risks and Uncertainties Affecting the Company

This secti on presents iinformation about the Companyds expoc
Groupbs objectives, policies and processes for measur.i

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible forthe est abl i s hment and oversight o]
management framework and is for developing and monitor
The Companyds risk management policies are establishe

Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Companybés activities. T h eg adlomamagement standards and goiiocedurtess ainbsr a i ni n
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles

and obligations.

The Companyds Audit Committee oversees mafagqnemeygds monse
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Company?d
Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and

procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee and the whole Board of Directors. The

Board of Directors requests management to take corrective actions as necessary and submit follow up

reports to the Audit Committee and the Board, addressing deficiencies found.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to AFI Development if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractu a | obligations and arises principaldl
from customers and investment securities.

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets that are potentially subject to credit risk consist principally of trade and other receivables.
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables represents the maximum amount exposed to credit risk.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures with respect to rental
customers, including outstanding receivables. The Company has policies in place to ensure that, where
possible, rental contracts are made with customers with an appropriate credit history. Cash transactions are
limited to high-credit-quality financial institutions. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

AFI Development has no other significant concentrations of credit risk, although collection of receivables
could be influenced by economic factors.

Investments

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and with counterparties
that have a high credit rating. Management actively monitors credit ratings and given that the Group has only
invested in securities with high credit ratings, management does not expect any existing counterparty to fail
to meet its obligations, except as disclosed in note 33 to the Company's Audited Financial Statements for
year 2014.

Guarantees

The Companyés policy is to pr ovi awnedfsubeidianes inaekceptipnahr ant e
cases. In negotiations with lending banks, the Company aims to avoid recourse to AFI Development on loans
taken by subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2016, there were two outstanding guarantees: one for the amount of US$1 million in
favour of VTB Bank PJSC under a loan facility agreement of Bellgate Construction Limited (AFIMALL City)
and the second for the amount of US$ 192 million, also in favour of VTB Bank PJSC, under a loan facility
agreement of Krown Investments LLC (Ozerkovskaya ).

In February 2017, AFI Development provided an additional guarantee in favour of VTB Bank PJSC for the
loan amounting to US$22.5 million, taken by its subsidiary Sanatory Plaza LLC to finance the acquisition of
the 50% stake in the Plaza Spa Kislovodsk project (including repayment of debt to the exithng par t ner 6 s
company). This guarantee will remain in place until all security agreements under this loan are entered into
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and registered, expected by the end of April 2017.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. AFI
Devel opment 6s approach to managing |liquidity is
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable | osses or risking damage
management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Company aims to maintain flexibility in its funding requirements by keeping cash
and committed credit lines available.

Management monitors AFI g$tenvoah dagymhasis andl sakes necegssaryadcttons, ifp o

required. The Company structures its assets and liabilities in such a way that liquidity risk is minimised.
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices wild.l affect the Companyds i ncome
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the available returns for shareholders. We are exposed to market risks from
changes in both foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. We do not use financial instruments,
such as foreign exchange forward contracts, foreign currency options and forward rate agreements, to
manage these market risks. To date, we have not utilised any derivative or other financial instruments for
trading purposes.

Interest rate risk

We are subject to market risk deriving from changes in interest rates, which may affect the cost of our current
floating rate indebtedness and future financing. As of 31 December 2014, 27% of our financial liabilities were
fixed rate. For more detail see note 33 to our consolidated financial statements.

Currency risk

The Company is exposed to currency risk on future commercial transactions, recognised monetary assets
and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations that are denominated in a currency other than the

or

t he

respective functional c ur r e n primarily the S DAllErland Ressiaan Rauplene nt 6 s

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the

Companyds processes, personnel , t ec haldactogoyhershandredith f r a st

market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Oper at

The Compan wéistomdnage aperational risk so as to balance the need to avoid financial losses
and damage to the Groupbés reputation with overall

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is
assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the
development of overall Company standards for the management of operational risk. Compliance with
Company standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by way of internal audits.
The results of the internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which
they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical accounting policies are those policies that require the application of our management's most
challenging, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the
effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Critical accounting
policies involve judgments and uncertainties that are sufficiently sensitive to result in materially different
results under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that our most critical accounting policies are
those described below.

A detailed description of certain of the main accounting policies we use in preparing our consolidated
financial statements is set forth in notes 3 and 5 to our consolidated financial statements.
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Estimates regarding fair value

We make estimates and assumptions regarding the fair value of our investment properties that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the amounts of assets and liabilities on our balance sheet.
In particular, our investment properties under development (which currently comprise the majority of our
projects) are remeasured at fair value upon completion of construction and the gain or loss on
remeasurement is recognised in our income statement, as appropriate. In forming an opinion on fair value,
we consider information from a variety of sources including, among others, the current prices in an active
market, third party valuations and internal management estimates.

The principal assumptions underlying our estimates of fair value are those related to the receipt of
contractual rentals, expected future market rentals, void/vacancy periods, maintenance requirements and
discount rates that we deem appropriate. We regularly compare these valuations to our actual market yield
data, actual transactions and those reported by the market. We determine expected future market rents on
the basis of current market rents for similar properties in the same location and condition. For further details,
please refer to Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of financial assets

We recognise impairment losses with respect to financial assets, including loans receivable and trade and
other receivables, in our income statement if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. We test significant financial assets for
impairment on an individual basis and assess our remaining financial assets collectively in groups that share
similar credit characteristics. Impairment losses with respect to financial assets are calculated as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows of
the asset discounted at the original effective interest rate of that asset.

Estimating the discounted present value of the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset is inherently
uncertain and requires us both to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Changes
in one or more of these estimates can lead us to either recognizing or avoiding impairment charges

Impairment of non-financial assets

We recognise impairment loss with respect to non-financial assets, including investment property under
development and trading properties under construction, if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, we discount estimated future cash flows of the asset to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. The carrying amounts of impaired non-financial assets are reduced
to their estimated recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance account and we
include the amount of such loss in our income statement for the period.

We assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, we then estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. Estimating the value in
use requires us to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The development of the
value in use amount requires us to estimate the life of the asset, its expected cash flows over that life and the
appropriate discount rate, which is primarily based on our weighted average cost of capital, itself subject to
additional estimates and assumptions. Changes in one or all of these assumptions can lead to us either
recognizing or avoiding impairment charges.

Deferred income taxes

We are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process
involves a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction estimation of actual current tax exposure and the assessment of the
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as capitalization of expenses, among
others, for tax and financial reporting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities,
which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must assess, in the course of our tax planning
process, our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to obtain the benefit of deferred tax assets based on

expected future taxable proftand avail able tax planning strategies.

deferred tax assets recorded will not be recovered, a valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the deferred
tax asset.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax
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assets, deferred tax liabilities and valuation allowances to reflect the potential inability to fully recover
deferred tax assets. In our consolidated financial statements, the analysis is based on the estimates of
taxable income in the jurisdictions in which we operate and the period over which the deferred tax assets and
liabilities will be recoverable.

If actual results differ from these estimates, or we adjust these estimates in future periods, we may need to
establish an additional valuation allowance which could adversely affect our financial position and results of
operations.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of employee share options is measured using a binomial lattice model. The fair value of share
appreciation rights is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include share price on
the measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average
historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average
expected life of the instruments (based on historic experience and general option holder behaviour),
expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market
performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

Related Party transactions

There were no related party transactions (as defined in the UK Listing Rules) in the financial year ended 31
December 2016 or in the period since 31 December 2016.
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1.

AFIMALL City

AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC
Annex A to the MD&A

31.12.2016 1 Very significant property disclosure

(Data based on
100%. Share of

) Current )
the Company in Comparative data
) quarter
the property i
100%)
Q4 2016 Q3 2016 Q2 2016 Q1 2016 Q4 2015

Value of the
property 666,500 656,800 656,800 666,000 685,200
(000'USD)
NOI in the period 1
(000'USS) 12,275 13,247 10,971 13,600 12,259
Revaluation gains
(losses) in the (3,679) (5,438) (24,700) (40,960) (276,764)
period (000'US$)
Occupancy rate at
the end of the 84% 82% 78% 82% 78%
period (%)
Rate of return (%) 7.5% 7.7% 7.5% 8.2% 7.8%
Average rent per
sq.m. 858 880 941 828 1,103
(US$/annum)
Average rent per
sg.m. in
agreements signed 803 685 487 248" 989

in the period
(US$/annum)

4 Changed after adjustments of OPEX in the first quarter of 2016
'* Represented mainly by exhibition areas (6'h floor, ci. 4 ths. sqm) leased by single tenant
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Board of Directors of AFI Devel opment Plc (th
together with the audited consolidatétkhcial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY

The principal activities of the Group, which remained unchanged from last year, are real estate investment
and developmenthe principal activity of the Company is the holding of investments in subsidiaries

EXAMINATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT, POSITION AND PERFORMANCE OF THE
ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

AFI Development is one of the leading real estate development companies gper&irssia. Established

in 2001, AFI Development is a publicly traded subsidiarfFlofonic Limited. As described in more detail in
note 34 AGroup composi t the Gompanypvastak4.88% Sibspliare ohdfdica 2 0
Israel Investments Ltdi(Af fliscael 0), which is |listed i.n the Tel

AFI Development is listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange and aims to deliver
shareholder value through a commitment to innovation and continuous project deve]amupled with
the highest standards of design, constructjoiality and customer service.

AFI Development focuses on developing and redeveloping high quality commercial and residential real
estate assets across Russia, with Moscow being its main markfthe Companyds exi s
comprises commercial projects focused on offices, shopping centres, hotels andiseiygdperties, and
residential projectsn prime locations in Moscow A F | Devel opment 6s strategy
propertiest develops and to either lease the commercial properties or sell them for a favourable return.

As at 31 December 2016, t h e7 imastment propdrtes} ipvestnterit o | 1 o
properties under development, 3 trading properties undstraation, and hotel projects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Groupbs results are set out 1B mheloskodthecCvonpsfarl i dat
the year before taxation amounted to B8$97thousand (208: US$657,188thousand). Thdoss after
taxation attri ownersamduetedtodSE,87V2thouBand20ls &SH64,087thousand).
DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a dividend anosstHfer the year is
transferred to retained earningsacumulated losses

MAIN RISKS , UNCERTAINTIES AND USE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group is exposed to market price risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidityr iekmost significant

risks faced by the Group and the steps taken to manage tkseamn d t he Gr oupds fi
management objectives and policsgs described in note8®f the consolidated financial statements



AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

MANAGEMENT REPORT

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Group is one of the leading real estate development companies opigraiogsia. It focuses on
developing and redeveloping high quality commercial and residential real estate assets in Moscow and the
Moscow Region. The strategy during the reporting period and for the future periods is to sell the residential
properties thiathe Group develops and to either lease the commercial properties that the Group develops or
sell them if the Group is able to achieve a favourable return.

GOING CONCERN

As described in note 2he consolidatedinancial statements have been prepare@ g@oing concern basis,

which assumes that the Group will be in a positmmefinance or negotiate the loans at maturity, secure
further financing for its project under construction and development and achieve the sales volumes and
prices as budgeted generate enough cash to cover its working capital requirements in order for the Group
to be in a positioto continue its operations in the foreseeable future

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no changes to the share capital of the Company duriogrteetyea. As at the year end the
share capital of th€ompany comprisedf:

1 523,847,027 AA0O shares of US$0.001 and,

1 523,847,027 AB0O shares of US$0.001
Al | AAO0 shares are on deposit with BNY (Nominees)
listedon the London StoAk| EfRBbasthar €E8LEEORE. admi tted

Official list of the UK Listing Authority and to trading on the main market of LSE.
IMPLEMENTATION AND COMPLIANCE TO THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Although the Company is incorporated in Cyprus, its shares are not listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange,
and therefore it is not required to comply with the corporate governance regime of Cyprus. Pursuant to the
UK Listing Rules however, the Company is requireccémply with the UK Corporate Governance Code

or to explain its reasons for naompliance. The Company's policy is to achieve best practice in its
standards of business integrity in relation to all activities. This includes a commitment to followHbst hig
standards of corporate governance throughout the AFI Development group. The UK Corporate Governance
Code published in September 2014 (the fACodeodo) app
updates to the UK Corporate Governance Coddighed in April 2016 apply to the Company for the
financial year commencing 1 January 2017.

The Drectors are pleased to confirm that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code for the
period under review, with the exception that the Ekge Chairman of the Board, Mr Leviev, was not
independent on appointment (as required by section A.3.1 of the Code) by virtue of the fact that he is an
Executive Chairman and is, indirectly, a major shareholder of the Company. Mr Leviev holds a ngntrolli
stake in Flotonic Limited, the majohareholder of the Company. Thér&tors consider Mr Leviev to be a

key member of the Company's leadership and are of the opinion that his oversight, management role and
business reputation are importamtthe Compny's success. TherBctors are therefore of the view that Mr
Leviev should continue as Executive Chairman as it would be beneficial for the Company.
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PARTI CI PATI ON OF DI RECTORS I N THE COMPANYO0S SHARE

None of the Directorfiolds shares of the Company directly. Mr Lev Leviev, the president of the Board,
holds 64.88% indirectly though Flotonic |imited a

BRANCHES

The Group operates/e branches and/or representative a@fiof Cypriot, BVI and Luxembourg entities in

the Russian Federation. These are Bellgate Construction Ltd branch, which operates AFIMALL City project,
Amerone Ltd branch, Bugis Finance branch and Triumvirate | S.a r.I branch operating investment properties
and Bastet Estates Ltd branch acting as sale agents for residential properties.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors as at 31 Decembérdillat the date of this report are shown on
page 1. Th®i r ect or s 6 d a oressigodtion,af pgplacable,tisimdicated on page 1. The term

of those that have not resigned will expire on the date of the next annual general meeting of the
shareholders but all of them are eligible foretection The Directors Mr Avraham Noach Novoguki,

Mr Christaks Klerides and MiMoshe Amitresigned during the current year as indicated on page 1. Mr
David Tahan was appointed on 20 January 20hére were no significant changes in the assignment of
responsibilitiesand remunerationf the Board dDirectors during theurrentyear.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE COMPANY

Any significant events that relate to the operating environment of the Company are described in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events which took place after the reporting date and which have a bearing on the understanding of the
financial statements are described in ndefthe consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Disclosed in note 39 of the conglalted financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The independent auditors, KPMG Limited, have expressed their willingness to continue offering their

services. A resolution reappointing the auditors and giving authority to the Board of Directorshimirfix t
remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Fuamari Secretarial Limited
Secretary
Nicosia,6 April 2017
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STATEMENT BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE COMPANY
OFFICIALS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DARFTING OF THECONSOLIDATEDFINANCIAL
STATEMENTSIN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF CYPRUS LAW 190(1)/2007 ON
TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS

We, the members of the Board of Directors and the Company officials responsible for the drafting

of the consolidatel i nanci al statements of AFI Devel opme
ended 31 December 2016, the names of which are listed below, confirm that, to the best of our
knowledge:

a) The consolidated financial statements on pages 12 to 76:

(i) bhave beermprepared imccordance witlthe International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the Wopean Union and the requirements of the Cyprus
Companies Law,

(i) give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of
the Conpany and the undertakings included in the conseddinancial statements
takenas a wholg

b) the adoption of a going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements
continues to be appropriate based on the foregoing and having reviewddrabast
financial position of the Group; and

c) the Management Report providesfair review of the developmesdénd performance of the
business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the ceasolidat
financial statements takexs awhole, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.

The Directors of the Company as at the date of this announcement are as set out below:
The Board of Directors:

Executive directors

Lev Levievi Chairman B

Non-executive independebBirectors

Panayiotis DEMELNOU i

David Tahan
Company officers:

Chief executive officer

Mark GroySmMan e

Chief financial officer

Natalia PIrogova e

6 April 2017



KPMG Limited

Chartered Accountants

14 Esperidon Street, 1087 Nicosia, Cyprus
P.O. Box 21121, 1502 Nicosia, Cyprus

T: +357 22 209000, F: +357 22 678200

IndependentAud t or s6 Report
To the Members of AFI Development Plc

Report on the audit if the consolidated financial statements and the separate financial
statements of AFI Development Plc

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statemeAt @fevelopment Plc

(Athe Companyo) and i tasdthe sepasatedinaacialistatemerftstohA-l A Gr o
Devel opment Pl c ( twhiehare Presented an pagesmdta 109 @iprise

the consolidated statement of financial positmd the separate statement of financial position of

the Parent Compangs at 31 December 261and the consolidated statements of income
statement, comprehensive incqrokanges in equity and cash floeusd the separate statements of

income statement, oaprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Parent
Companyfor the year then endednd a summary dfignificant accounting policies.

In our opinion the accompanyingconsolidated financial statemerdsd the separate financial
statementgjive a true and fair view of the financial positiontloeé Group and the Parent Company

as at 31 December 26, and oftheir financial performance antheir cash flows for the year then

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standaetiopted by theEopean

Union (IFRSEU) and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap.aklamended

from time to time (the ACompanies Law, Cap. 11

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards atingudSAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described iiAtioorsd Responsibilities for

the audit of thefinancialstatement8 section of our report. We are independent ofGbenpanyin
accordance with the Code of Ethics fBrofessional Accountantsf the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountar{tE SBA Code) and the ethical requirements in Cyprus that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements and the separate financial sfatements
and wehave fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance thiése requirements and

the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2(i) in the consolidatedncial statements whicimdicatesthat the
Group incurreda net loss of US$47,94thousandduring the year ended 31 December 2016,

driven by a
continuous decline df h e

decrease

the maturity of

t he

balance of US$627,533 thousands stated imote 2(i), these events or conditions, along with
other matters as set forth note 2(i), indicate that a material uncertainty exists thaty mast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not

modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

ity rassettshbg US$H28,04% thoastartie o u p 6 s
G cashuagmdbcash equivalemnd marketable securities down to
US$16,687 thousandcur t her mor e,
will require the Group tanake a lump sum payment of the principal of the loans with a current

Grou

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statememtd the separate financial statemenftshe
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statementand the separate financial statemexgsawhole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these mitadklition to the matter

described in the

iMater.i

al uncertainty

matters described below to ie key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Valuation of properties

See Notes 15 and 16 to tbensolidatedinancial statements

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Groupods propert
propery portfolio of US$915,350 thousar
and investment property under developm
portfolio of US$232,900 thousar
representing 80. 3%
as at 31 December 2016. The valuation of
Groupbs properties i
to, anong other factors, the individual natu
of each property, its location and the exped
future rental revenue for that particu
property. For developments, factors incly
projected costs to complete and timing u
practical completion.

The existence of significant estimatior
uncertainty, could result in a mater
misstatement, warrants specific audit focus
this area.

Our audit procedures included assesg
whether the valuation approach used wag
accordance with Royal Institution of Charter
Surveyors (RICS) and suitable for use
determining the carrying value for the purpg
of the consolidated financial statements un
IFRSs. We evaluated the competen
objectivity and ind
external property valuers and also conside
fee arrangements between the valuers
other engagements which might exist.
carried out procedures, on a sample basis
satisfy ourselves of the accuracy of |
property information supplied to valuers
the Group. For properties under devel@pri
we assessed the consistency of the informg
for construction contracts and budgets wh
were supplied to th
records. We assessed using also our

experts the appropriateness of the valua
methodologies and assumptiorsed based o
our experience and knowledge of the mat
and by comparing them to market data.

held discussions on key findings with t
external property valuers and challeng
various key inputs such as discount, vaca
and exit capitalisation ratessed on eac

property within the property portfolio.

r el

ated
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Revenue recognition

See noté to the consolidated financial statements

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group recognised during tbarrentyear
revenue from saleof trading propertieg
(residential flats offices, parking spaces)f
US$54,484 thousandRecognition of such
type of sales occurs when the significant ri
and rewards of ownership of flats have bg
transferred to the buyeRue to the judgemer
involved here is a rislof recognising revenu
in the wrong accounting period.

Due to the abovementioned risk factor
consider the timing of revenue recognition
constitute a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures includezbnsidering the
appropriatenesso f t he Gr oel
recognition  accounting policies an
compliance with thepolicies in terms of
applicable  accounting  standards We
performed audit procedures connected V
the yearend timing of revenue recognitio
Our substantive test of revenuencluded
substantiating transactions with underlyi
documentation (signed contracts afiatts of
t r a n)sofolstaindvidence for thteansfer of
ownership to buyers and assessing the revg
recognised with the signed contracts.

Provisioning for taxation

Refer to note &ssumptions and estimatiancertaintyi tax; and note 5 significamtccountng
policiesi tax; and note 13 Tax Benefit, note 29 Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities, n
Financial Instrument$ Fair values and Risk ManagemeniTaxdion contingencies in th

Russian Federation

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Provisioning for taxation requiremmplex
judgements to be takentiespect of the
various tax jurisdictions which the Group
operates. Thprovisions are judgemental as
resultof their nature and technical complexit

Our audit workincludedassessg the
adequacy of the design and implementation
controls over accounting for taxation. We
evaluated the appropriateness of

ma n a g e me nptichssandaestimatas in
their assessment and valuation of tdpe risks
within the Group including review of
correspondence on the status of tax
compliance and tax audits in the various
jurisdictions in which the Group operatesd
benchmarking against passessment of the
range of potential outcom@s respect of the
uncertain tax treatments adopted. We invol
KPMG tax specialistsvithin the audit team to
provide detailed knowledge and expertise ir]
assessing tatkeatments in certain
jurisdictions.

Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in th&nnual Report but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thesxmept as required by the Companies
Law, Cap.113
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In connection with our audit of the consolidatetibficial statements, our responsibility is to read

the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appea to be materially misstatedIf, based on the work we have performed, we

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
thatfactOur report in this regard irseguierseenmetnetdd isne ct

9

Responsibilities of the Board of Directorsfor the consolidatedfinancial statementsand the
separate financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statentents
separateifancial statementthat give a true and fair view in accordance WERS-EU and the
requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, and for such internal control as the Board
of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of caesbfidancial statements

and separate financial statemethigt are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statemanis the separate financial statemetite Board

of Directors is respoiidle for assessing th€ompanys ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unlesthere isintertion to eitherliquidate theCompanyor to cease opetians, orthere

is no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors iresponsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Audi t or sd Res po audii d thé consolidased fihamaial statbneents and the
separate firancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statement@nd the separate financial statemeagsa whole are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue adiadu or s r eport t hat i nc
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatembahit exists. Misstatements

can arise from fradior error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statemeartd separate financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

9 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements
and the sepata financial statementsvhether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

I Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant ® dhdit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of thieo mp a n y 6 Sroup's idternaltcantrol.

1 Evaluate the appropriateness of accountingcipsiused and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures madtnheyBoard of Directors
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1 Conclude on the appropriatenesstod Board of Directds use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidencairmdd, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt o€ thenpany 6 s and
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to drattention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidatedinancial statementand the separate financial statememtsif such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtd ned up to the date of our auditorsd report
the Groupand the Compantp cease to continue as a going concern.

1 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statemerd and the separate financial statemeimsluding the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

9 Obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding tharfamal information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible tur audit opinion.

We communicate witlthe Board of Directorsegarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during oaudit.

We also providaghe Board of Directorsvith a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear roindependence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated wille Board of Directorsve determine those matters that were

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial staterapdtthe separate financial
statementsf the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditorsd report unl ess |l aw or regul at
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine timatr should not be communicated in

our report because the adverse consequences of doing so measfthably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal Requirements

Pursuant to theadditional requrements of the Auditors and Statutory Audits of Annual and
Consolidated Accounts Lawof 2009 L.42(1)/ 20009, as amended fr
42 (1) [wedepost the following:
1 We have obtained all the information and explanations we consideredsargcés the
purposes of our audit.
1 In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Congmafgr as appears
from our examination of these books
1 TheC o mp a oomsolisated financial statemer#ted separate financial statemeats in
agreenent with the books of account.
9 In our opinion and to the best ofirinformation and according to the explanations given to
us, the consolidated financial statememisd separate financial statememfive the
information required by the Companies Law, CBpP3, in the manner so required.
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1 In our opinion,the Management report on pages 2 to 4, the preparation of which is the
responsibility of the Board of Directors, has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Law, Cap.113, aedntiormation givens consistent with
the financial statements.

fI'n the | ight of the knowledge and under st
environment obtained in the course of our audit, we have not identifies material
misstatements in the managamhreport.

11

Pursuant to the London Stock Exchange Listing Rules we are required to review:
T The Directorsod6 statement i -termrviablility;taidon t o goi |
T The part of t he Corporate Governaniangee St at el
with the eleven provisions of the 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our
review.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above.
Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, harsasbeen p
a body in accordance with Section 34Lafv 42(1)/2009and for no other purpose. We do not, in

giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whose knowledge this report may come to.

The engagment partner on the audit resulting in this indepgee nt audi t or sdé repor
Zavrou

Maria H. Zavrou, FCCA
Certified Public Accountant and Registered Auditor

For and on behalf of

KPMG Limited

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Audito
14 Esperidon Street

1087 Nicosia, Cyprus

6 April 2017
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 01

Revenue

Other income

Operating expenses

Carrying value of trading properties sold
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Total expenses

Share of the after tgxrofit/(losg of joint ventures
Gross Profit

Profit on disposal of investment propert
Decrease in fair valuef properties
Impairment loss on properties

Net valuation losson properties

Results from operating activities
Finance income

Finance costs

Net financeincome/(costg

Lossbefore tax
Tax benefit

Lossfor the year
Lossattributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cent)

Note

22
10
11

17

15,16
20,23

12

13

14

13

2016 2015
US$ 6 USS$ o6
138,296 93,726
3,545 3,125
(38,836 (40,505
(49,475 (609)
(6,589 (10,640
(1,330 (1,649
(96,230 (53,403
3,742 (1,32))
49,353 42,127
1,801 -
(123,045)  (434,364)

- (12,659
(123,045 (447,015
(71,89) (404,889
65,802 4,496
(44,609 (156,796
21,194 (152,300
(50,697)  (557,188)

2,755 90,509
(47942 (466,679
(47,872)  (464,087)

(70) (2,592
(47,942 (466,679
(457) (44.30)

The notes on pagd®to 77 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 01

Lossfor the year

Other comprehensive income/(expense)

Items that are or may be reclassifiedsubsequentlyto profit or
loss

Realised translation difference on disposal of subsidiaries
transferred to income statement

Foreign curency translation differences for foreign operations
Other comprehensive incom&expense) for the year

Total comprehensiveexpensefor the year
Total comprehensive(expenselhcome attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

14

2016 2015
US$ 6 USS$ o6
(47,942 (466,679

- (275)
27,782 (23,907
27,782 (24,182

(20,160 (490,86)
(20,252)  (488,158)

92 (2,703
(20,160 (490,863

The notes on pagd®to 77 are an integral part of these consolhtinancial statements.



AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 01

Attributable to the ownersf the Company

15

Non
controlling  Total

interess  equity
Share Share  Capital Translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve Earning/
Accumula
ted losses Total
US$ (US$ 06US$ (US$ 0O6USS$ CEUSS O6USS$S 06USS
Balance at 1 January 2015 1,048 1,763,409 - (314,880 (158,982 1,290,595 (8,817 1,281,778
Total comprehensive
expensefor the period
Loss for the period - - - - (464,087 (464,087 (2,592) (466,679
Other comprehensivexpense - - - (24,079 - (24,079 (111 (24,182
Total comprehensive
expensdor the period - - - (24,070 (464,087 (488,158 (2,703 (490,862
Transactions with owners of the Company
Contributions and distributions
Share option expense - - - - 2,283 2,283 - 2,283
Changes in ownership interes
Acquisition of noncontrolling
interestgnote 27) - - (9,200 - - (9,200 7,601 (1,600
Balance at 31 Decembe?015 1,048 1,763,409 (9,200 (338,95) (620,786 _ 795,519 (3,919 791,600
Balance at 1 January 206 1,048 1,763,409  (9,201) (338,951 (620,786 _ 795519 (3,919 _791,600
Total comprehensive
incomé(expense)or the
period
Loss for the period - - - - (47,873  (47,87) (70) (47,942
Other comprehensive income - - - 27,62C - 27,620 162 27,782
Total comprehensive
income/(expense)or the
period - - - 27,62C (47,873 (20,259 92 (20,160
Transactions with owners of the Company
Contributions and distributions
Share option expense - - - - 857 857 - 857
Balance at 31 Decembe?016 1,048 1,763,409 (9,200 (311,33) (667,80} _ 776,12 (3,827 772,297

The notes on pagd®to 77 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

16

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 261

Assets

Investment proerty

Investment property under development
Property, plant and equipment
Long-term loans receivable

Inventory of real estate

VAT recoverable

Non-current assets

Trading properties

Trading properties under construction
Other investments

Inventoies

Shortterm loans receivable

Trade and otér receivables

Current tax assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

Total assets

Equity

Share capital

Share prenium

Translation reserve

Capital reserve

Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Liabilities

Longterm loans and borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred income

Non-current liabilities

Shortterm loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Advances from customers
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Note

15
16
18
19
20
21

22
23
24

19
25
13
26

27
27
27
27
27

35

28
29
32

28
30
31

2016 2015
US$ 60 USS$ o0
915,350 933,700
232,900 238,925
31,215 26,280
15,763 14,316
- 18,570
9 33
1,195,237 1,231,824
6,854 2,062
243,327 204,392
6,088 15,921
665 477
7 101
42,427 29,017
2,542 1,622
10,619 26,545
312,529 280,137
1,507,766 1,511,961
1,048 1,048
1,763,409 1,763,409
(311,33) (338,95)
(9,201) (9,201)
(667,801) (620,786)
776,124 795,519
(3,827) (3,919
772,297 791,600
627,074 389,799
14,934 25,567
10,455 8,543
652,463 423,909
748 224,315
30,957 18,163
51,301 53,974
83,006 296,452
735,469 720,361
1,507,766 1,511,961

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Direcéofgpah2017.

Lev Leviev
Chairman

David Tahan

Director

The noteon paged9to 77 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 201

Cash flows from operating activities
Lossfor the year

Adjustments for:

Depreciation

Net finance (income)/costs

Share option expense

Decrease in fair value groperties
Impairment losses ogproperties

Share of(profit)/loss in joint ventures
Profit on disposal of investment property
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Tax benefit

Change in trade and other reales

Change in inventories

Change in trading properties and trading properties under
construction

Change in advances and amounts payable to builders of
trading properties under construction

Changes in advances from customers

Change in trade and other payables

Change in VAT recoverable on trading

Change in deferred income

Cash generated from operating activities

Taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of other investments

Proceeds from disposal of investmpniperty

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Interest received

Change in advances and amounts payable to builders
Payments for construction of investment property under
development

Payments for the acquisitisrnovationof investment propert
Change in VAT recoverablen construction

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Dividends received from joint ventures

Acquisition of other investments

Payments for loan receivable

Proceeds from repayment of loans receivable

Net cashfrom/(used in) investing activities

Note

18
12

15,16

20,23
17

13

22,23

16
15

18
17
24

17

2016 2015

US$60 US$60
(47,942 (466,679
696 963
(21574 151,904
857 2,283
123,045 434,364
- 12,651
(3,742) 1,321
(1,801) -
(17) (16)
(2,759 (90,509
46,767 46,282
837 (1,420)
(84) (3)
(10,549 (35,497
12,657 (3,52)
(12,262) 29,455
613 (1,264)
(2,596) 2,947
172 (1,753
35,558 35,195
(373 (821)
35,185 34,374
22,301 15,239
1,099 -
102 17
4,625 4,122
(2,080) (2,879
(4,554 (10,909
(370 (2,013
(124) 2,617
(262 (56)
380 3,250
(12,642 (24,147
(508) (154)
1,159 95
9,126 (14,815

The notes on pages 1®77 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



18
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 201

2016 2015
Note US$60(C US$060
Cash flows from financing activities

Acquisition of noncontrolling interests - (1,600)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 28 - 10,000
Repayment of loans and borrowings (13,090 (43,318)
Interest paid (44,949 (45,089
Net cash used ifinancing activities (58,035 (80,003
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations (2,202 233
Net decreasdn cash and cash equivalents (15,926) (60,211)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 26,545 86,756
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Decemb 26 10,619 26,545

The notes on pagd®to 77 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year aded 31 December 2016

INCORPORATION AND PERNCIPAL ACTIVITY

AFI Devel opment PLC (the RYpusognaddFeaupry 2081sas dlimited r p o
liability company under the name Donkamill Holdings Limited. In April 2007 the Company was
transformed into public company and changed its name to AFI Development PLC. The address of the
Companyds r eipilestSpyroa Araoozbuf Streeg Lordos Waterfront Buildirg fl6or,

Flat/office 505, 3035 Limassol, Cyprus. As of 7 September 2016 the Company is a 64.88% subsidiary
of Flotonic Limited, a private holding company registered in Cyprus, 100% owned hgwWMteviev.

Prior to that, the Company was a 64. 88%sswakediod,i,
which is |isted in the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
held by a custodian bank in exchange tlfte GDRs issued and listed in the London Stock Exchange
(ALSEO) . On 5 July 2010 the Company issued by w
were admitted to a premium listing on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and to traditigeon

mai n mar ket of LSE. On the same dat e, the ordi
shares.

Theseconsolidated financial statements comptiee Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as t he)ainGr otuhped Gr o joiptl§ sontrolled entities. T he principal activity of the Group
is real estate investment and development.

The principal activity of the Company is the holding of investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures as
presented in notedfi Gr cCangposition .

BASIS OFACCOUNTING

i. Going concern basis of accounting

The Group continues toexperience difficult trading conditions driven by maeemnomic and
geopolitical developments affecting the Russian economy as a whole and a deterioration in demand for
real estate assets across the country. Whilst the general economy has shown some signs of stabilisation
during theyear2016 with higher oil prices and inflation on a downward trend, the performance of the

real estate sector remains weak.

The Group has mognised a net loss after tax of US$48 million for the year ended 31 December 2016
driven by a decrease in the value®@f oupds property asmsdée sontihugus US$ 1
decline ofcash and cash equivale@ind marketable securities down to USF million. These were a
continuation of the year ended 31 December 2015 results, vk@rBevelopment PLC reported net
losses of US$46mi | | i on, which predominately related to
assets by approximately US® million to US$.,400 million Cash and cash equivalents and marketable
securities also declined by US$50.8 million during 2015 to US$42.5 million as at 31 December 2015.

Furthermore, as described in the below paragrdpisieen the period from 29 Mar@16, when the
Company received the VTB Bank letter, and up until the signing of an addendum to the loan agreements
on the 27 September 2016, the Company went through an extensive series of negotiations with VTB
Bank on the loan facilities of Ozerkovskalthand AFIMAL City. In addition, the maturity of the

loans, early 2018 will require the Group to make a lump sum payment of the principal of the loans with a
current balance of $627,533 thousaiithese conditions, along with other matters set forth helow
indicate the existence of materi al uncertainty
to continue as a going concern.
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year aded 31 December 2016

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING(continued)

Going concern basis of accounting (continued)

As described in more detaihi t he Companyés announcements and i
the three quarters ended 31 March, 30 June and 30 September 2016, a series of events and negotiations
with VTB bank for itsthe Ozekovskaya Il and AFIMALL City loan dcilitiestook plce.

On 29 March 2016, the Company received a letter from the BaiBkPJSC {ithe Bank). The letter

stated that the Bank had reached a conclusion that Bellgate Construction Limited and Krown
Investments LLC (the borrowers under the AFIMALL City and @meerkovskaya Il loan facilities
respectively had experienced, in the opinion of the Bank, material adverse changes in their financial
conditions and there had appeared other circumstances that iddlwateheir obligations under the

loan facility ageements could be not met on time. Accordinghi letter, the Bank proposed that the
Company fimplement steps aimed at removing possible negative consequences of the aforesaid
circumstances, no later than 30 calendar days from dpddlyerwise the Bank W exercise its right

under the loan facility agreements to claim early repayment of the loans.

Following the above letter and furtheraaseries of negotiations adicussions between the Company

and the Bankthe Group ended up with two possiblealteat i ves to foll ow, the
or the fAPersonal Guaranteed described in brief
AiThe Disposal Transactiono annouwhchwgoddbreleasethe Jul y

AFI Development @up from all of its obligations in spect of the loans taken by Krown Investments
Limited and Bellgate Constructions Litad, which amounted t&JS$61.1thousandas at 14 July 2016,
in exchange for theiBposaltov TB B a n k P J& e f¢llomingpBpejties:

1 AFIMALL City Shopping Cente, a shopping and entertainment centre in the business district of

Moscow;

9 Ozerkovskaya lll, a completed Class A office complex in Moscow; and

1 Aquamarine Hotel, a modernsfar hotel, located in the Ozerkovskaya complex
In this respect the Company issuadclassl circular on the 15 July 2016 and the transaction was
approved at the General Meeting held on 1 August 2016.

AThe Per son aslannGuned enrtAegrsi 20160k place in parallel to the Disposal
Transaction wherethe Company hébeen inbrmed that at a meeting on 1 August 2016 betwken
Executive Chairman of the dtnpany, Mr Lev Leviev and VTB, Mr Leviev executed a unilateral
Guarantee Deeda personal guarantee and indemnity deed under English law from Mr Leviev to VTB,
pursuant to widh Mr Leviev ha agreed to guarantee the obligations of Krown under the Ozerkovskaya
[ Loan Facility for a per i oldadditibn tie LGrougsecuted s ( t
addenda to the loan facility agreements and respective security agtsemth VTB, according to

which the due date for the Principal Payments have been deferred to 30th Septemb@he2016
ADeferral so) and not to enforce for prior breac

Further to the above, on tl#y September 2A®, the Company and VTB signed aaddendm to the
Ozerkovskaya Il and AFIMALL City Loan Facilities. The addenda, as disclosed in detail in §ote 2
Loans and Borrowingsprovided the deferral of the quarterly principal payments due on the Loan
Facility Agreements to maturity of each of the Loans and the removal of the existing covenants to the
Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility, in consideration for which VTB has sought additional security in
respectof the Loans which now includes cross default provisionsvéet each of the Loans and a
suretyship from Bellgate Constructions Limited
in respect of the Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility.
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year aded 31 December 2016

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING(continued)

i Going concern basis of accounting (cangd)

In addition, Mr Leviev has, on the same date, provided VTB with a Guarantee, pursuant to which Mr
Leviev has undertaken to guarantee, for a period of 10 months, the obligations of Krown under the
Ozerkovskaya lll Loan Facility. The Guarantee, whghknforceable for 12 months, provides additional
security to VTB in respect of the Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility. Prior to this and as described in note
34 A GZoonuppo s MrtLevewnacquired 679,748,454 shares in the Comppargviously held by

Africa Israel Investments Ltdgehi ch represents 64.88% of the Comp

As a result of the above amendments to the Loan Facility Agreements and the Guarantee being entered
into, the Board of Directors of AFI Development decided not to procéiddtie Disposal transaction
announced on 15 July 2016 and the loans were reclassified from short term to long term liabilities.

Management anticipates that any additional financing budgeted based on its estimated operating cash
flows will be secured byeaw bank facilities and loans, some of which are well into negotiations with
banksincluding VTB. Management expects to continue the construction of projects classified as
ATrading proprstnesct iummderas dvehd crhi ae,d PiamdN @atbd a 3
phase lbandii P o ¢ h t and @mraence the constructof fiBot ani ¢ Gar deno

Management estimates that the Group will generate sufficient operating cash flows so as to meet the
Loan Facilities interest paymentManagement explores all égrs in relation to repaying the Loan
Facilities when they fall due in 2018, which may or may not include the disposal of certain assets or
projects or refinance of AFIMALL City loan. Management considersaitailable options and is
developing a plan ondw to approach the loans at maturity and secure further financing to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Considering all the above conditions and assumptitiessansolidatedinancial statements have been
prepared on a going noern basis, which assumes that the Group will be in a positicefinance or

negotiate the loans at maturity, secure further financing for its project under construction and
development and achieve the sales volumes and prices as budgeted to gemaghteash to cover its

working capital requirements in order for the Group to be in a posdicontinue its operations in the
foreseeable futurdt is noted that no reclassifications or adjustments were included with reference to

the values of the Grgju6s assets and | iabilities, whi ch may
continue operating as a figoing concerno.

ii. Statement of compliance

Theseconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSas adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the
Companies Law of Cyprus, Cap. 113.

The consolidated financial statements were authorisetssae by the Board of Directors @nApril
2017.
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2. BASIS OFACCOUNTING (continued)

iii. Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financi al statements are pre
functional currency. Alamounts haveeen rounded to the nearest thousantessotherwise indicated.

3. USE OF JUDGEMENTS AN ESTIMATES

In preparing these consolidated financial statemenémagement has made judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of the
assets, liabiligs, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognised prospectively.

Judgements
Information about judgements made in appdyatcounting policies that have the most significant effect

on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:

1 Note 17i classification othejoint arrangements;
91 Note 371 lease classification;

Assumptons and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment in the year ending 31 Decembe B0hcluded in the following notes:

Note 18i valuation ofland and buildings and buildings under construction
Note 22i valuation of trading properties

Note 23i valuation of trading properties under construction

Note 13i provision for tax liabilities

Note 25i recoverability of receivables

Note297 utilisation of tax losses

Note 3871 recognition and measurement of contingencies

=8 =4 =8 -8 -8 -89

Measurement of fair values
A number of the Groupds accounting policies and
both financial and noefinancial assets and liabiks

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This
includes a valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value
measurements, including Level 3 fair valaesl reprts directly to the chief financial officer
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3. USE OF JUDGEMENTS AN ESTIMATES(continued)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties (continued)

Measurement of fair valug¢sontinued)

The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservablgsngnd valuation adjustments. If third

party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the
valuation team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such
valuatilms meet the requirements of IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such
valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Gioapdit @mmittee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset dalility, the Group usesbservablanarketdata as far as
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs
used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active keds for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

91 Level 3 inputs for the assetr liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

T
T

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a lidhilifpto different levels of the fair
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categamiiscentirely in the same level of the fair
value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during whih the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following
notes:

Note 15i investment property

Note 16i investment property under development
Note 24i other investments

Note /i sharebased payment arrangements
Note 317 financial instruments

= =4 =8 =8 =9
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4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUTNOT YET EFFECTIVE

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations
As from 1 January 2016, the Groadopted all chargs to International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs)as adopted by the Elhich are relevant to its operations.

I FRS 14 ARegul atory Deferral Accountso was eff
January 2016 but was not adopted by thieas it was decided not to launch the endorsement process of
this interim standard and to wait for the final standard.

The following Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet
effective for annual péds begiming on 1 January 2018hose which may be relevant to the Company
are set out below. The Company does not plan to adopt these Standards early.

Standards and Interpretations adopted by the EU

T ITFRS 9 AFinanci al | nst r umeegrniagoon dr aefterfl danwary 2048).f o r
IFRS 9 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit loss model for
calculating impairment on finandiassets, and new general hedge accounting requirements. It also
carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.

T TFRS 15 fARevenue from contracts with cmaetomer
after 1 January 2018). IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether,
how much and when revenue is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance,
including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFR3CCustomer Loyalty
Programs.

Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU

T 1TAS 7 (Amendments) fADisclosure Initiativeo (ef
or after 1 January 2017). The amendments require disclosures that ergsleofudinancial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes
arising from cash flow and nerash changes.

T 1TAS 12 (Amendment s) ifRecognition of Defferrr ed
annual accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The amendments clarify the
accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value.
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4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUTNOT YET EFFECTIVE(continued)

Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU (continued)

1 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 202816 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017 (IFRS 12) and 1 January 2018 (IFRS 1 and IAS 28)). The annual improvements
impect three standards. The amendments to IFRS 1 remove the outdated exemptionstifae first
adopters of IFRS. The amendments to IFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure requirements for interest in
other entities also apply to interests that are classified ks fbe sale or distribution. The
amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an
investment in associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital
organisation, or other qualifyg entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint
venture on an investmehy-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

T ITFRS 2 (Amendment s) iCl assi fhiacsaetd oMma yamedn t MeTarsau
(effective for annual @riods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments cover three
accounting areas: a) measurement of c&gtled sharbased payments; b) classification of share
based payments settled net of tax withholdings; and c) accounting for a modifichtioshare
based payment from caskttled to equitgettled. The new requirements could affect the
classification and/or measurements of these arrangeinant$ potentially the timing and amount of
expense recognised for new and outstanding awards.

T IFRS 4 (Amendment s) AApplying I FRS 9 Financi al
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments intend to
address concerns about the different effective dates of IFRS 9 andttie®iicing new insurance
contracts standard (expected as IFRS 17). The amendments provide two options for entities that
issue insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4: a) an option permitting entities to reclassify
from profit or loss to other comprehsive income some of the income or expenses arising from
designated financial assets (overlay approach) or b) an optional temporary exemption from applying
IFRS 9 whose predominant activity is issuing contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 (deferral
approab).

T ITFRS 15 (Clarifications) ifRevenue from Contra
beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments in Clarifications to IFRS 15 address three of
the five topics identified i.e. identifying performancobligations, principal versus agent
considerations, and licensing. The clarifications provide some transition relief for modified contracts
and completed contracts. Additionally, the IASB concluded that it was not necessary to amend IFRS
15 with respecto the collectability or measuring na@ash consideration.
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4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUTNOT YET EFFECTIVE(continued)

Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU (continued)

1

| AS 40 (Amendments) WATransf er s adlpeftiodsvbeginhinge n t
on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments clarify when a company should transfer a property
asset to, or from, investment property. A transfer is made when, and only when, there is an actual
change in use i.e. an asset meets oresetmsmeet the definition of investment property and there is
evidence of the change in use. A change in management intention alone does not support a transfer.
In addition, it is clarified that the revised examples of evidence of a change in use inetigiedm
version of IAS 40 are not exhaustive.

| FRI'C 22 fAiForeign Currency Transactions and Ad
beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The interpretation clarifies that the transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises the prepayment or deferred income arising from the
advance consideration. For transactions involving multiple payments or receipts, each payment or
receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date.

| FRS 16 fiffecdva breanrual pedods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). IFRS 16
introduces a single, dnalance lease sheet accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right
of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a laiiserkpresenting its
obligation to make lease payments. There are optional exemptions feteshotéases and leases of

low value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standardessors continue to
classify leases as finance gperating leases. IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including
IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Leaskh Sig&rating
Leased Incentives and SI7 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Fo

of a Lease.

The Board of Directors expects that the adoption of the above financial reporting standards in future
periods will not have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Company except of the
adoption of IFRSs 9, 15 and 16 whichuld affect the consolidated financial statements. The extent of
the impact has not been determined.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all pgriesisntedn these
consolidatedihancial statements.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the abitiffetd those

returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from ttege on whichcontiol commences until the date on which
control ceases.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued)

Basis of consolidatiofcontinued)

Nonrcontrolling interests (NCI)

NCI are measured at their proportionat edatsdiar e ¢
acquisition Subsequently the Group attributes profit [wss and each components of other
comprehensive income (OCI) to the NCI even if this results in a deficit bal@itcea nges i n t he
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Loss of ontrol

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any interestetainedin theformer subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is
lost.

Interests in equitaccounted investees
The Gr ou pidequityatdoenteaisvestees, comprise interests in joint ventures.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group joat control, whereby the Group has rights to
the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recagnised
cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group©6s sdceaunted inceftees, indl pr o
the date on which joint control ceases

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising fgoountra
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions withampgitynted investees

are eliminatelhgai nst the investment to the extent of
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transdmons

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated the respective functional currencies of Group
entities atheexchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are trarigtatetie functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting datenioretary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translatgd the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was deteinmed. Nonmonetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency ardranslated at the exchange rate at the date of the transdeticsign currency
differences are generally recognised in profit or.loss



28
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year aded 31 December 2016

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued)

Foreign currency (continued)

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into US Dollars at the exchange rates at the
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations arat@drnisto US Dollars at the
exchange rates at the dateghdd transactions oaverage rate for the year for practical reasdfishe

volatility of the exchange rates is high for a given year or period the Group uses the average rate for
shorter periodge. quarters or months for income and expense items.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation isgtiosed of in its entirety or partially such that control or joint control is
lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or lossas part of the gain or loss on dispodalthe Group diposes of part of its interest in a
subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to
NCI. When the Group disposes of only part of joint venture while retaining joint control, the relevant
proportion & the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, then foreign currency differences ar@imgtich item

form part of the net investment in a foreign operation. Accordingly, such differences are recognised in
OCI, and accumulated in the translation reserve.

The table below shows the exchange rates of Russian Roubles which is the functiemalyooirthe
Russian subsidiaries of the Group:

Exchange rate
Russian Roubles

As of: for US$1 % Change
31 December 2016 60.6569 (16.8)
31 December 2015 72.8827 29.5
Average rate during

Year ended 31 December 2016 67.0349 10.0
Year ended 31 December 2015 60.9579 58.7

Financial Instruments

The Group classifies netterivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and lemand receivables.

The Group classifies nederivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category.

Non-derivative financial assetnd financial liabilitiesRecognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans areteivables on the date when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the tradevdatethe entity becomes

a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transactidncin w
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control
over the transferred asset. Any ietgrin such derecognised financial assets that is created or retained
by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled
or expire.

Finangal assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Groeyorentlyhas a legdy enforceableight to offset the amounts

and intends either to settle theam a net basis or toealise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Non-derivative financial assetsmieasurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classifiedda®hiading or

is designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and
changes therein, inafling any interest or dividend incopae recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in
hand and depositsn demand.

Loans and receivables

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised aogttiis effective interest
method.

Non derivative financial liabilitiesneasurenent

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initiallymeasuredat fair value less any dirdgt attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Shae capital
Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shezegcognised as a deduction from
equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance
with IAS 12.

Investment Property
Investment property igitially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ¢ontinued

Investment Property (continued)

Any gain or loss o disposal of investment property (calculated as the difference between the net
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit oNless.
investment property that was previously classified as property, plant argnentiis sold, any related
amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

When the use of a property changes from ovaoeupied to investment property, the property is
remeasured to fair value and reclassified accolglingny gain arising onthis remeasurement is
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific
property, with any remaining gain recognised in OCI and presented in the revaluation reserve. Any loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Investment property under developrhen

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as
investment property under development and accounted for at fair value until construction or
development is complete, at which time it is reclassifeetheestment property.

Certain devel opment assets within the Groupbs i
process were categorised as Al and bankod without
ascribed to such land bank prcije other thatheir cost, would result in a gain or loss to be recognised in

profit or loss. This approach was adopted due to abnormal market volatility and will be reviewed in the
future once market conditions are more stable.

All costs directly relaté with the purchase and construction of a property, land lease payments, and all
subsequent capital expenditure for the development qualifying as acquisition costs are capitalised.

Capitalisation of borrowingosts

Borrowing costs are capitalised if thegre directly attributable to the acquisitjooonstructionor
production of a qualifying asseits part of the cost of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowosts
commences when the activities to prepare the asset are ingeamzkesxpenditures and bmwing costs

are beingncurred. Capitalisation of borrowingpsts may continue until the assets are substantially ready

for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognisetihe capitalisation rate is arrived at by reference to the actual rate payable
on borrowings for development purposes or, with regard to that part of the development cost financed
out of general funds, to the averagge. The capitalised borrowingpst islimited to the amount of
borrowing cost actually incurred.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PQ.ICIES (continued

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Cost includes expendits¢hat are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct,labgwother costs directly attributable to
bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing
the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalise borrowing costs. Purchased
software that is integral to the fationality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that
equipment.

Al | hotels are treated as property, pl ant and e
management.

If significant parts of aiitem of property, plant and equipment have different useful lthes) they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recogrpsefit ior loss.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cadtitems of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values using the straligfiet method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the leaiseé tieein

useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease
term. Land is not depreciated.

Items of property, plant and equipment depreciated from the date that they are available for use, or
respect of sef€onstructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.

The annual depreciation rates fbetcurrent and comparative perias as follows:

Buildings 1-2%
Office equipment 1033 M%
Motor vehicles 33 M%

Depreciationmethodsuseful lives and residual valuase reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.

Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of acquisiti
the Groupbs interest in the net fair value of t

the acquiree. When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOWNTING POLICIES ¢€ontinued

Intangible assetand goodwill(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect chemputyted
investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the cagrgmount of the investment, and any
impairment loss is allocated to the carrying amount of the equitgunted investee as a whole.

Trading Properties

Trading Properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includesrexpenditu
incurred in acquiring the properties and bringing them to their existing condition. In the case of
constructed trading properties, cost includes an apptepsizare of direct and borrowirgpsts. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling pricéhi& ordinary course of busineessthe estimated costs

of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale

Trading properties under construction

Trading properties under construction are defined as projects in which the Group partidgpates a
contractor or as a promoter, and which include construction work with the intention to sell the entire
building as a whole or parts thereof. Each project represents one building or a group of buildings.

A group of buildings is considered one projadien the buildings at the same building site are being
constructed according to one building plan and under one building license, and are offered for sale at the
same time. Trading properties include cost of land or of rights to the land that condtieutetative

portion of the area, on which the construction work on projects is performed, plus the cost of the work
executed on the projects as well as other costs allocated thereto, less the cumulative amounts recognised
in profit or loss as cost of trawj properties sold up to the end of the reported period.

Direct costs and expenses are charged to projects on a specific basis, whereas borrowing costs are
allocated among the projects based on the relative proportion of the costspaific borrowingcosts

are capitalised to such qualifying asset, or portion thereof which was not financed with specific credit, by
weightedaverage rate of the borrowing cost up to the amount of borrowing cost actually incurred.
Where the estimated expenses for a buildgingject indicate that a loss is expected, an appropriate
provision is set up. Buildings that are under construction are classified as trading properties under
construction on thetatement of financial position

Inventory of real estate

Land for future @velopmento f trading properties is <clas-sifie
current asset when it i's not expected to devel
operating cyclelt is presented at the lower of cost amet realisablealue.

Deferred income

Income received in advance is classified underewnrent and current liabilities as deferred income and
comprise rental income received for future periadsl amounts received in advance for the sale of
trading properties, for wbh recognition of revenue has not yet commenced.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued

Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss, incladimgerest in equity
accoured investee are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:

default or delinquency by a debtor;

restructuring of an amount due to the Gymn terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy;

adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers;

the disappearance of an active market for a sedugitguse of financial di€ulties; or

observable datindicating that there is a measureable decreaskeipxpected cash flows from a
group of financial assets.

=4 =4 =4 -8 -8 9

For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or
prolonged declia in its fair value below its cost.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a collective
level. All individually significant assets are individually assedsedmpairment. Those found not to be
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
individually identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for
impairment. Collective ssessment is carried out by grouping together assets with similar risks
characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries and
the amount of loss incurred, and makes an adjustment dridugconomic and credit conditions are such
that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An i mpairment | oss is calculated as the differe
value oftheet i mat ed future cash flows discounted at
are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that
there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the agsetietevant amounts are written off. If the
amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
evert occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversedhrough profit or loss.

Equity-accounted investees

An impairment loss in respect of an equaiycounted investee is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss,
and is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued

Impairment (continued)

NorHinancial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews therying amounts of its nefinancial assets (other than
investment property, investment property under development, VAT recoverable, inventories and
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exi st s, t hecaverable amoansisestimated. r e

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other asset

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value usaxg a pre
discount rate that reflects currenairket assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount and
recognised in profit or loss.

An impairment loss isreversedontyt t he extent that the assetds c:
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or atiosrtig no impairment
loss hadbeen recognised.

Assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal grogpsprising assets and liabilities, are classified asftoeldale if it
is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lowér @drtiggng amount and fair

value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then
to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rate basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories,
financial asets, deferred tax &ts, employee benefit assetsjestment property or investment property

under development, which continteo be measured in accordance wit
policies. Impairment losses on tial classification as heltbr-sale or heléeor-distribution and
subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as hefdr-sale, intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment are no longer
amortised or depreciated and any egaitcounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

Employee benefits

Shortterm employee benefits

Shortterm employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the Group dgsesent legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued

Employee benefits (continued)

Sharebased pyment transactions

The grarmdate fair value of equitgettled sharbased payment options granted to employees is
generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the
employees unconditionally become detit to the options. The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are
settled in cash, is recognisas an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period
during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at
each reporting date and at settlement date based on the fair value ofmh@@ation rights. Any
changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and itri@pble that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money ek thegific

to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Revenue

Sale of trading properties

Revenue from sale of trading properties is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership haw®en transferred to the buyer.

Construction Management fee

Revenue from construction management is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessectfgeré&d
surveys of work performed.

Investment Property Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue on a dimaidfasis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral patotail tlemtal income, over
the term of the lease.

Hotel operation income

Income from hotel operations comprises of accommodation, treatments and other services offered at the
hotels operated by the group and sales of food and beverages and are recpgmsaftering of the

service and thacceptance by the client.

Gross Profit

Grossp of it is the resul t o fprisdsheeenué and otipediscometpieal at i o r
cost for trading properties sold and operating, administrative and othems®sy recognised in profit or

loss during the year.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued

Finance income and finance costs

Finance income includeaterest income on funds invested and net gain on financial assets at fair value
through proit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective
interest method.

Finance costs includaterest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and
deferred consideration, net loss on finana&dets at fair value through profit or loss and impairment
losses recognised on financial assets.

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, net of interest
capitalised.

Foreign currency gain or loss on fircéal assets and financial liabilities is reported on a net basis as
either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net
gain or net loss position.

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deféaredt is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates @ business combination, ibkems recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable incormdanrthesyear

and any adjustment thetax payable or receivable in respect of previous yddrs.amount of current

tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects uncertainty related to imme taxes, if anyit is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if they relate to income taxes levieddayme taxation
authority and the taxation authority permits the entity to make or receive a single net payment. In
Groupbds financi al statements, a current tax ass
liability of another entityin the group if, and only if, the entities concerned have a legally enforceable
right to make or receive a single net payment and the entities intend to make or receive such a net
payment or to recover the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for temporaryeténces on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities

in a transaction that is not a business combinatiorttzatdaffects neither accounting nor taxable profit

or lossand temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and joirgeansans to the

extent that the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued

Income tax (continued

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Fure taxable profits are determined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in
the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will émlised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent ths
it has become probable that future taxable profitsh&iavailable against whichey can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, using tax rates ete@ or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measuremerdf deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Groupexpects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities. For this purpose the carrying amount of investmeopgrty measured at fair value is
presumed to be recovered through sale and the Group has not rebutted this presumption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are off§ednd only if, the entity has a legally enforceable right to set

off current tax liabities and assets; and the deferred tax liabilities and assets relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities, but these
entities intend to settle current tax liabilities and asseta net basis, or their tax assets and liabilities

will be realised simultaneously for each future period in which these differences reverse.

The provision for taxation either current or eieéd is based on the tax raigplicable to the country of
residence of each subsidiary

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of t he

which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which

9 represents a separate major lafidousiness or geographical area of operations

1 is part of a single cordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area
of operationspr

1 is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view tesade.

Classification as a dgcontinued operation occuas the earlier oflisposal or when the operation meets
the criteria to be clas$#fd as heleor-sale

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statgnefitt afloss
and OClis repreented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or losstributable to the owners tie Company by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting
the profit or loss attributable to the ownefghe Companywand the weighted average numbgr o

ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share
options granted to employees.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the @ithiat engages in business activities from which it may

earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of
the Groupbs other components. All segmenrement r esu
to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for
which discrete financial information is available.

OPERATING SEGMENS

The Group has five reportable segments, as described below, whicleareGlr oup 6s str at eg
units. The strategic business units offer different types of real estate products and services and are
managed separately because they require different marketing stratetifieg address different types

of clients. For eaclst r at egi ¢ business unit the Groupds m
reports on at least monthly basis. The following summary describes the operation in each of the
Groupbs reportable segments.

91 Development ProjectsResidential projects: Include cdnsction and selling of residential
properties.

1 Asset Management: Includes the operation of investment property foolesale

1 Hotel Operation: Includes trmvnership andperation of Hotels

1 Land bank: Includes the investmémiand holding of propertfor future development.

9 Other: Includes the management services provided for the projects.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is

measured based on segment profit before income tax, as incluteslimernal managemergports

that are reviewed by the Groupbs management t ea

management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain

segments relative to otheentities that operate within these industries. isggyment pricing is

determined on an armdés | ength basis.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Reportable segments
Development projects Asset management Hotel Operation Land bank Other
Residentiéprojects Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
USSO0MUS$EO(USSEOC(USSOCUSSOUSSED US$SO6CUSPOC(USPEOUSSO0 US$SOH60USSH60!
External revenues 56,544 4,900 67,878 74,010 11,298 11,346 2,361 3,325 215 145 138,296 93,726
Interrsegment revenue 6,077 5,485 915 469 4 2 5295 5813 6,397 6,787 18,688 18,556
Segment revenue 62,621 10,385 68,793 74,479 11,302 11,348 7,696 9,138 6,572 6,932 156,984 112,282
Segmenf{loss)profit
before tax (688 (48,127) (8,411 (437,0/7) 3,069 2458 (41620 (65364 (6,196 (6,480) (53,849 (554,20
Interest income 2 1 8 3 1 - 2,134 3,735 - - 2,145 3,739
Interest expense - - (44,012) (45,733) - - (24) (50) - - (44,039 (45,783)
Depreciation (53) (37) (79) (116) (498) (732) (6) (16) (60) (62) (696) (963)
Share oprofit/(losg of
joint-ventures - - - - 3,742 (1,321) - - - 3,742 (1,321)
Other material
non-cash items:
Impairment loss on
properties - (12,651) - - - - - - - (12,651)
Decrease in fair value ¢
properties (3,970) (35,203) (91,254) (325,359) - - (27,821) (73,802) - (123,045) (434,364)
Segment assets 355,567 255,591 912,240 916,855 27,158 23,610 185,693 281,230 624 496 1,481,282 1,477,782
Capital expenditure 60,278 38,056 370 7,020 - - 818 4538 - - 61,466 49,614
Segment liabilities 66,971 64,187 667,779 643,102 - - - 12,319 387 628 735,137 720,236

39
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OPERATING SEGMENT (continued)

Reconciliations of reportablgegment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other
material items.

2016 2015
UsS$o600 UsSs$o6o0
Revenues
Total revenue for reportable segments 156,984 112,282
Elimination of intersegment revenue (18,689 (18,559
Consolidated revenue 138,296 93,726
Profit before tax
Total profit before tax for reportable segments (53,849 (554,590)
Unallocated amounts:
Other profit or loss (593) (2,277)
Share of the after tgxrofit/(losg of joint ventures 3,742 (1,320
Consolidated loss before tax (50,697 (557,189
Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 1,481,282 1,477,782
Other unallocated amounts 26,484 34,179
Consolidated total assets 1,507,766 1,511,961
Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 735,137 720,236
Other unallocated amounts 332 125
Consolidated total liabilities 735,469 720,361
Reportable Consolidated
segment Adjustments totals
totals

US$060(C US$060 US$060

Other material items 2016

Interest income 2,145 - 2,145
Interest expense 44,036 - 44,036
Capital expenditure 61,466 - 61,466
Depreciation 696 - 696

Decrease in fair value of properties 123,045 - 123,045
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OPERATING SEGNMENTS (continued)

Reportable
segment
totals

US$060(
Other material items 205
Interestincome 3,739
Interest expense 45,783
Capital expenditure 49,614
Depreciation 963
Decrease in fair value of properties 434,364
Impairmentlosson properties 12,651

Geographical segments

Geographically the Group operates only in Russia and has no significant revenue or assets in
other countes or geographical areas. Therefore no geographical segment reporting is

presented.

Major customer

US$060(C

41

Consolidated

Adjustments

totals

US$060C

3,739
45,783
49,614

963
434,364
12,651

There was no concentration of revenue from any single customer in any of the segments.

REVENUE

Investment propéy rental income

Sales of trading properti¢sote 22)

Hotel operation income

Construction consulting/management fees

OTHER INCOME

Other income consisbf:

Penalties charged to tenants

Reimbursement of depositary fees
Reimbursement of property tax

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Sundries

2016

Uuss$ 60

72,299
54,484
11,298
215
138,296

2016

Uss$ oC

147
480
1,770
17
1,131
3,545

2015
UsS$ o

81,561
674
11,346
145
93,726

2015
Uss$ o

345
750
16
2,014
3,125
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OPERATING EXPENSES

2016 2015
US$ 6 USS$ o

Maintenance, utility and security expenses 12,147 13,743
Agency and brokerage fees 623 701
Advertising expenses 5,496 3,672
Salaries and wages 10,276 10,724
Consultancy fees 504 499
Deprecation 578 849
Insurance 635 622
Rent 1,429 1,566
Property and other taxes 6,338 7,863
Other operating expenses 810 266

38,836 40,505

. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2016 2015
US$ 6 USS$ 6
Consultancy fees 1,841 894
Legal fes 814 475
Auditorsd remuneration 519 695
Valuation expenses 94 124
Directorsd® remunerati on 1,361 1,472
Salaries and wages 25 6
Depreciation 118 114
Insurance 208 193
Provision for Doubtful Debt¢reversal) (1,304) (99)
Share option expense 857 2,28
Donations 674 2,811
Other administrative experse 1,382 1,672

6,589 10,640

. OTHER EXPENSES

2016 2015
US$ 06 USS$ ¢

Pr i or VATaenresoderable (note 21) 121 125
Sundries 1,209 1,524

1,330 1,649
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12. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015
Us$ 6 USS$ 0o

Interest income 2,145 3,739
Net change in fair value of financial assets - 408
Translation reserve reclassified upaspdsal of subsidiaries - 275
Loanspayablewritten off - 74
Foreign exchange gain 63,657 -
Finance income 65,802 4,496
Interest expense on loans and borrowings (44,039 (45,783
Net change in fair value of financial assets (A74) -
Other finance costs (380) (396)
Loans receivable written off (18 -
Foreign exchange loss - (110,619
Finance costs (44,608 (156,796
Net financancome/€ost9y 21,194 (152,300

The net foreign exchangginrecognised during 2@lis a result of theveakerng of the US

Dollar to the Russian Rouble ly%, during 206. The recognisedainis mainly attributable

to the US Dollar denominated loans held by Russian subsidiaries or branches where the
functional currency is the Russian Rouble.

Subjecttothe pi si ons of | AS2i8 20f6Ee Groupdid inatcgpitatiseesyt s 0O
amount 2015 Nil) of financing costs to the projects that are in construction phase.

13. TAX BENEFIT
2016 2015
Us$ 6 USS$ o
Current tax (benefit)/expense

Current year 282 844
Adjustment for prior years (869 (92)
(583 753

Deferred tax benefit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,172 (91,262

Total taxbenefit (2,755 (90,509
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13. TAX BENEFIT (continued)

The provision for taxation either current or deferred is based on the tax rates applicable to the
country of residence of each Group entity. Cypriot entities are subject to 12.5% corporate rate
whereas Russian subsidiaries and branahesubject to 20% corporate rate.

2016 2015
% US$ 6 % Uuss$ o6

Lossfor the year after tax (47,942) (466,679)
Total tax benefit (2,759 (90,509
Lossbefore tax (50,697 (557,188
Tax using the Camtpanyb6 (12.5) (6,332 (12.5 (69,463
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (5.9 (2,759 (7.6) (42,580
Tax exempt income (79.0) (40,060) (4.9 (27 544)
Non-deductible expenses 89.16 45,201 6.5 36,012
Change in estimates related to prior years 2.7 (865) - -
Current year losses for which no deferred tax ass
recognised 4.05 2,055 2.3 13066

(5.4) (2,755 (16.2) 90,509
The current tax asset of U8$42 thousand as at 31 December @02015: asset US$1,622

thousang, represents the net amount of income tax overpayment in respect of current and prior
periods.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2016 2015
3asic earnings per share UsSs$ 6 USS$ 6
Lossattributable to ordinary shareholders (47,872 (464,087
) ) Shares in Shares in
Weighted average number of ordinary shares thousands thousands
Weighted average number of shares 1,047,694 1,047,694
Earnings per share (cent) (4.57 (44.30

Diluted earnings per share are not presemtedhe assumed conversion of the employee share
options outstanding would have an atitutive effect i.e. increase in earnings per share.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Reconciliation of carrying amount

2016 2015
UsSs$ 6' USS$ 0o
Balance 1 Janugr 933,700 1,375,416
Renovations/additional cost 370 2,013
Disposals (500) -
Fair value adjustment (92,801) (332,361)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates 74,581 (111,368
Balance 31 December 915,350 933,700

Investment propertyamprises mainly retail and commercial property which is operated by the
Group and is leased out to tenants.

The investment property was revalued by independppraisers on 31 December 20I6e
cumul ative adjustment s, ior vall lueprdj eictt snenab
above.

The increase/(decreasa@jue to the effect of the foreign exchange rates is a result of the
weakeningof the US Dollar to the Russian Rouble g6, during 205 (2015: strengthening
30%).

The main reason for thaif value loss are market driven changes in the valuation assumptions
reflecting the continuing pressure on rental rates per square metre. In the retail segment the
increasing switch of retail rents to roubles in most shopping centres has also underarketd m
rents. At the AFIMALL there was a divergence between the existing and new leases, with
significant discounts having to be offered to lease currently vacant space, compared with higher
rental rates agreed with the existing tenants. In 2016 a numisisting leases expired and

were prolonged at lower base rental rates reflecting discounts, which influenced negatively the
Esti mated Rental Value AERVO of the Mall thou
in the end the same net income. In dfitice segment the process of switching rents from US
dollars to roubles continued, however market rental rates remained stable while overall vacancy
rates slightly decreased.

Measurement of fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investmentrgperty was determined by external, registered independent
property appraisers having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The independent
appraiserscalculatet he f ai r value of the Groupbs inves
months. The same applies for investment property under development in note 16.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The fair value measurement for investment property of 915850 thousand (2015:
US$933,70Ghousand) has been categorised as a level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the
valuation technique used.

Level 3 fair value

The table presented in reconciliation of carrying amount above shows the reconciliation from
the opemg balances to the closing balances for level 3 fair values, since all fair values of
investment properties of the Group, are categorised as level 3.

Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs
The following table shows the valuation techréqused in measuring the fair value of investment
property, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair
value measurement

Significant unobservable

Valuation technique inputs

Discourted cash flows: The
valuation model considers the

1 Average Rental rates pel The estimated fair value
sg.m.: Office pime class would increase/(decrease) if:

present value of net cash flows to |
generated from each property,
taking into account rental rates anc
expected rental growth rate,
occupancy rate and void periods
together reflected in vacancy rates
corstruction cost, opening and
completion dates, lease incentive
costs such rent free periods, taxes
and other costs not paid by tenant
The expected net cash flows are
discounted using the riskdjusted
discount rates plus the final year
stream is discouatl with an aHrisk
yield. Among other factors,
discount rate estimation considers
type of property offered (retail,
commercial, office) quality of
building and its location, tenant
credit quality and lease terms.

$640, class A $510, clas: 1
B $200%$290, Retail $10C

$10,000 q
Expected market rental
growth office 05% q

average, retail-3%
average, no ERV growth q
for AFIMALL

Vacancy rate (class prim §
A 5% class B 112.1% )
Risk-adjusted discount  q
rates (14%L8%)

All-Risk Yield 9.5%

15.5%

Average rental rates were
higher/(lower)

Expected market rental
growth were higher/(lower
Void periods were
shorter/(longer)

The vacancy rates were
lower/(higher)

The riskadjusted discount
rates were lower (higher)
All -risk yields were
lower/(higher)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Investment properties at fair value are categorised in the following:

2016 2015
Uuss$ 6 USS$ 0o
Retail properties 666500 685,200
Office space properties 248,850 248,500
915,350 933,700

Fair value ®nsitivity Analys

Presented below is the effect on the fair value of the main investment property project, of a
increasfdecrease) in the below inpud$ the reporting date. This analysis@awes that all
other variablesemain constant.

AFI Mall City
Rate used in fair
value calculation as
at 31/12/2016
Capitalization Rates Increase of 1 % 10% Decrease of 1%
Fair value ( 630,000 666500 711,200
Rate used in fair
value calculation as
Average rental rates per at 31/12/206
sg.m Decrease of 5% US$1,103 sg.m. Increase of 5%
Fair value ( 644,300 666,500 688,800
Decrease of 10% Increase of 10%
622,100 666500 711,000
Rate used in fair
value calculation as
at 31/12/2016
Occupancy rates Decrease of 2% 92.5% Increase of 2%

Fair value ( 651,600 666,500 681,500
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2016 2015
Reconciliation of carrying amount Uuss$ 6 US$ 0o
Balance 1 January 238,925 431,474
Construction costs 4,554 10,906
Transfer to trading properties under construction (note 23) - (69,300)
Fair value adjustment (30,244) (102,003)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 19,665 (32,152
Balance 31 December 232,900 238,925

The investment property under development was revalueddspéndent appraisers on 31
December 2016The cumulativea dj ust ment s, for al | projects,
adj ust me nt a@bove The mam eeasbrs ol the fair value adjustments, are described in
note 15 above.

The increaseffecrease due to the effect of the foreign exchange rates is a result of the

weakeningof the US Dollar to the Russian Rouble b¥%6, during 205 (2015:strengthening
30%).

Fair value hierarchy
The fair value measurement for investment propentger developmenbf US$£32,900

thousand (208: US$38,925thousanil has been categorised as a level 3 fair value based on the
inputs to the valuation techniquead

Level 3 fair value

The table presentedbove isthe reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing
balances for level 3 fair values, since all fair valugfs investment propertiesinder
developmenbf the Group, are categorised as level 3.

Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

The valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment prapsigr
developmentthe significant unobservable inputs used well as thenterrelationship between
key unobservdk inputs and fair value measurememé discussed in note 15. In addition, the
following inputs for investment property under development.

Geographical Fair Discount Rate of return for
location value rate representative yeal
Uuss$ 600 % %

Russia 232,900 18-24 9.5135



49
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

17. SHARE OF INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

The Groupods joint 50% rinterest ens Nouara nipnitead sard Crabspon
Management Ltd with their subsidiary Sanatorium Plaza LLC, owner of a hotel in Kislovodsk

The following table summarises the financial information of the joint ventures as included in their
own financial statement, adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition. The table also

reconciles the summarised financial information to theu@rod s | fointevenirest |1 n
2016 2015
Uuss$ o Uuss$ o
Percentage ownership interest 50% 50%
Non-Current assets 18,277 15,326
Current assetdncluding cash and cash equivalents
2016:$6,924 thousand, 2015: $7,498 thousand) 7,791 8,210

Non-Current liabilities(including noncurrent financial liabilities
excluding trade and other payables and provisions

2016:$32,347 thousand, 2015: $35,014 thousand) (34,100 (36,450
Current liabilities(including current financial liabilities) (1,783 (1,440
Net liabilities (100%) (9,819 (14,359
Gr oup6s dlidbditiesg50%)f net (4,909 (7,179
Fair value adjustments at acquisition 4,705 3,916
Interest in joint ventures (203 (3,261)
Restriction of share obks 203 3,261

Carrying amount of interest in joint ventures - -

Revenue 18,272 18,098
Depreciation (174) (173)
Interest expense (2,676 (2,849
Income tax expense (1,948 (2,002)
Profit/(loss)and total compremesive income (100%) 7,483 (2,642)
Groupbdbs share of profit and 3,742 (1,32)

Dividends received by the Group 380 3,250
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

50

under Land & Office Motor
construction Buildings Equipment Vehicles Total

US$ 6 US$ 6 US$ 6USS$S ¢cUSS
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2016 3,319 24,552 1,987 840 30,698
Additions - 48 77 137 262
Disposals - (20D (13 (179) (293
Effect of movement indreign exchange rates 628 5,226 375 165 6,394
Balance at 31 December 2016 3.947 29,725 2,426 963 37,061
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2016 - 1,972 1,740 706 4,418
Charge for the year - 524 124 48 696
Disposals - (86) (13) (209) (208)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates - 453 351 136 940
Balance at 31 December 2016 - 2,863 2,202 781 5,846
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2016 3,947 26,862 224 182 31,215

Buildings

under Land & Office Motor
construction Buildings Equipment Vehicles Total

US$ 6 US$ 6 US$ 6USS$S ¢cUSS
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2015 4,242 32,144 2,568 1,124 40,078
Additions - 33 23 - 56
Transfer from trading properties (note 22) - 212 - - 212
Disposals - (226 (D) (33 (260
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates (923 (7,611 (603 (25) (9,389
Balance at 31 December 2015 3,319 24,552 1,987 840 30,698
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2015 - 2,031 2,092 854 4,977
Charge for the year - 712 162 89 963
Disposals - (226) - (33) (259)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange sate - (54H (519 (209 (1,263
Balance at 31 December 2015 - 1,972 1,740 706 4,418
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 3,319 22,580 247 134 26,280

[}
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19. LOANS RECEIVABLE

20.

Long-term loans

Loans to joint ventures (note 39
Loans to nofrelated companies

Short-term loans

Loans to joint ventures (note 39
Loans to nofrelated compaes

Terms and loan repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

Unsecured loans toint ventures

Unsecured loans to nerlated

companies

INVENTORY OF REAL ESTATE

Represented

t he

Currency Nominal

Year of

interest rate maturity

usD 11.5%
RUR 14%
RUR 2.35%
RUR -
RUR 8.8%
RUR 2.5%
RUR 0.1-5.5%

rights to

2020
2020
2016

2017
2016
2020
2019

t he

2016
US$ o

15,745
18
15,763

~ i~

2016
US$ o

11,300
4,445

project

51

2015

US$ 0o

14,246
70
14,316

9

w

101

2015

US$ 0o

9,942
4,304
98

nAFI

development in the NortRastern Administrative District of Moscow amdhs presented at net
realisable value. As at 31 Decemi2€16 the project wa®classifiedo Trading Propertiesnder

Construction based on Board approval to commence construction of the project during the year

2017

21. VAT RECOVERABLE

Represents VAT paid on construction costs and expenses which acdorthiegRussian VAT

law can be recovered upon completion of the construction. Part of this VAT is expected to be
recovered after more than 12 months from the balance sheet date. Due to the uncertainties in

the Russian tax and VAT law, the management basssed the recoverability of this VAT and

has provided for any amounts that their recoverability was deemed doubtful or questionable
(see note 11). Under Russian VAT legislation, VAT can also be claimed during the period of

construction provided that akkquired documentation is presented to the VAT authorities. The

Group was successful in recovering VAT during the year, and it is estimated that part of the

VAT recoverable as at the yeand will be recovered within the next 12 months, which is
classifiel as trade and other receivables, note 25.

Re
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22. TRADING PROPERTIES

2016 2015
US$ 6USS$ 60

Balance 1 January 2,062 2,979
Transfer from trading properties under construction (note 23) 53,480 -

Reclassification to property, plant and equgmn - (212)
Disposals (49,479 (609
Effect of movements in exchange rates 787 (96)
Balance 31 December 6,854 2,062

Trading properties compriggnsoldapartmerg and parking space3he transfer from trading
properties under constrimh represents the completion of ttenstruction of a number of flats
offices and parking placesf i Od projdctuDugng the yeahe sale off00flats, 3 offices
and 4 parking placesvere recognised, upon transferring of the rights to the baeaarding
to the signed acts ¢fansfer in the income statement.

23. TRADING PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

2016 2015

US$ 6 USS$ 6
Balance 1 January 204,392 133,036
Transfer from inventory of real estate (note 20) 21,543 -
Transfer frommvestment property under development (note 16) - 69,300
Transfer to trading properties (note 22) (53,480) -
Construction costs 54,428 33,670
Impairment loss - (13,400
Effect of movements in exchange rates 16,444 (18,214
Balance 31 December 243,37 204,392

Trading properties under tRPasvselretcs kadma cmpk e s
Resi dence Bopraeats whichGravolve @rimarily the construction of residential
properties.

As at 31 December 2016 the projéctA F | Resi @®t ani credassifiedifeomd was
Inventory of real estateased on Board approval to commence construction of the project during
the year 201, 7for further details refer to note 20

The properties were tested for impairment at year end basedtemal valuation. No
impairment loss was recognised in the profit or loss so as to present the properties at their lower
of cost or net realisable value.
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24. OTHER INVESTMENTS

The movementin other investments isomprised of acquisition of US$12rillion, sale of
bondsof US$18.1 million and maturity of bonds for US$4.2 million during the yEhese are
carried at fair value and any changes during the year are recognised in the profit or loss as
finance income or expenses.

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
US$ 6 USS$ 6
Advances to builders 27,019 18,383
Amounts receivable from relatgarties (note 30 267 337
Trade receivables net 3,427 3,381
Other receivables 3,955 3,037
VAT recoverable (note 21) 4,067 858
Tax receivhle 3,692 3,021

42,427 29,017

Trade receivables net
Trade receivables are presented net of an accumulated provision for doubtful debts of
US$8,285thousand2015 US$L1,402 thousand

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016 2015
Cash andash equivalents consist of: US$ 6 USS$ o
Cash at banks 10,356 26,374
Cash in hand 263 171
Cash and cash equivalents as per statement of cash flows 10,619 26,545
27. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2016 2015
1. Share capital US$006(USS$ 0C
Authorised
2,000,000,000 shares of US$0.001 each 2,000 2,000
Issued and fully paid
523,847,027 A ordinary shares of US$0.001 each 524 524
523,847,027 B ordinary shares of US$0.001 each 524 524

1,048 1,048

There were no changes to the authorised or the issued share capital of the Company during
the yearended 31 December 2016
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27. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

2. Share premium

It represents the share premium on the issue of shares on 31 Decentbfar 200 conversion
the sharehol dersdo | oans to capital uss$421,
on the issued shares which were represented by GDRs listed in the LSE in 2007. It was the
result of the difference between the offering erit)S$14, and the nominal value of the shares,
US$0.001, after deduction of all listing expenses. An amount of US$1,399,900 thousand less
US$57,292 thousand transaction costs was recognised during the year 2007. On 5 July 2010 an
amount of US$524 thousams capitalised as a bonus issue.

of

3. Employee Share option plan

The Company has established an employee share option plan operated by the Board of
Directors, which is responsible for granting options and administrating the employee share
option plan. Eligilte are employees and directors, excluding independent directors, of the
Company. The employees share option plan is discretionary and options will be granted only
when the Board so determines at an exercise price derived from the closing middle mzeket pri
preceding the date of grant. No payment will be required for the grant of the options. In any 10
year period not more thdalO per cent of the issued ordinary share capital may be issued or be
issuable under the employee share option plan.

As of 31 Decenber 2016he following options were outstanding

T

During 2007 and 2008 options ov&DRs with an exercise price of US$7 which have
already vested, orhird on the second anniversary of the date of grant, a furthethode

on the third anniversary ante remaining onghird, on the fourth anniversary of the date

of grant provided that the participants remained in employment until the vesting date. The
vesting was not subject to any performance conditi@ms 31 December 211,017,240
options, 0.1% ofhe issued share capital, were outstanding which have already vested and
have a contractual life of ten years from the date of grant.

On 21 May 2012, the Board of Directors approved the grant of additional options to
Companyo6s empl oy e763104 B slaaes, 1.amoftheassued shale @apital,
were granted with an exercise price equal to US$0.7208, vestinthioshen the second
anniversary of the date of grant, a further -timed on the third anniversary and the
remaining oneghird, on the éurth anniversary of the date of grant provided that the
participants remain in employment until the vesting date. The vesting is not subject to any
performance conditions. Their contractual life is five years from the date of ghanintil

31 December2016 2,095,388 options were cancelled, and the remaining 14,667,716
options have vested.

On 22 November 2012, the Board of Directors approved the grant of additional options to
the Companyés executive chairman. iGpadi ons
share capital, were granted with an exercise price equal to US$0.5667, vestihggcboa

the second anniversary of the date of grant, a furthethorteon the third anniversary and

the remaining onhird, on the fourth anniversary of the datiegrant provided that the
participants remain in employment until the vesting date. The vesting is not subject to any
performance condition®ll options have vested and havecantractual lifeof five years

from the date of grant

o
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27. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

28.

4. Employee Share option plar(continued)

If a participant ceases to be employed his options will normally lapse subject to certain

exceptions. In the event of a takeover, reorganisation or winding up vested options may be
exercisedor exchanged for new equivalent options where appropriate. Shares/GDRs issued
under the plan will rank equally with all other shares at the time of issue. The Board of

Directors may satisfy(with the consent of the participanén option by paying theapticipant

in cash or other assets the gain as an alternative of issuing and transferring the shares/GDRs.

5. Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation

of the financial statements @breign operations to the Group presentation currency and the

foreign exchange differences on loans designated as loans to an investee company which are
accounted for as part of the investords inves
or likely to occur in the foreseeable future. These foreign exchange differences are recognised
directly to Translation Reserve.

6. Retained earnings
The amount at each reporting date is available for distribution. No dividends were proposed,
declared or paid durgthe year ended 31 December 2016

7. Capital reserve
Represents the effect of the acquisition of the 10%-awmtrolling interests in Bioka
Investments Ltd and its subsidiary Nordservice LLC previously held at 90%.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2016 2015
UsS$ o6 US$ o
Non-current liabilities

Secured bank loans 627,074 389,799
Current liabilities

Secured bank loans 459 224,076
Unsecured loans from other noglated companies 289 239

748 224,315

a. The outstanding loanson 31 December 2016omprise oftwo loans as follows:

AFIMALL City Loan Facility

A secured loan frol@TB Bank JSQC "t he Bank") signed on 22 June
subsidiary, Bellgate Construction Ltd ("Bellgate™). This loan facility agreenfésted a credit

line totalling RUR 21 billion, which was drawn down in 5 tranches, each with a designated
purpose: the majority of the funds were designated to refinance existing loans previously issued

by the Bank. The remaining funds were designatediferrefinancing of construction costs

related to the AFIMALL City parking and for the financing of the outstanding payments
constituting part of the consideration for the acquisition of the parking.
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28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

AFIMALL City L oan Facility(continued)

The Company had discretion over the currency of each traaodethe credit line wadrawn

down 65% in US dollars and 35% in Russian roubles. The loan facility has differentiated
interest rates which are currency dependent: 9&%o#&ns drawn down in Russian roubles and

3 months LIBOR plus 5.02%6.7% up to 2/9/2013) for loans drawn down in US dollars.

Based on the loan agreement the interest on the loans is payable on a quarterly basis, throughout
the term of the credit lindgellgate has undertaken to make equal quarterly payments of US$6.5
million from 2014 to 2016, on account of the principal of the loans, while it has been agreed that
the remainder of the loan will mature in April 2018.

The terms of the loan facility agmeent are substantially similar to those of the loan facility
agreement entered into in February 2012 with the Bank in relation to the financing of the
acquisition of the AFIMALL City parking. However, certain conditions of the new loan facility
will differ from the aforementioned loan, including the following:
a) The guarantee of AFI Development Plc over the obligations of Bellgate under the loan facility
agreement will be in the amount of US$1 million, the nominal value of Bellgate's shares;
b) Additional mortgage over the premises of "Aquamarine" Hotel will be registered in favour of the
Bank. This shall be removed in the case that Bellgate redeems US$20 million of principal;
C) Additional guarantee will be provided to the Bank by Semprex LLC, a Russian compaty w
is an indirect subsidiary of AFI Development Plc, and owner of the "Aquamarine" Hotel. This
shall be removed in the case that Bellgate redeems US$20 million of principal;
d) The turnover covenant has been changed from monthly bank accounts turnowargee$ than
RUR 200 million to quarterly revenues (including VAT) exceeding agreed thresholds,
determined as amounts gradually increasing from RUR 651 million for Q3 2012 to the amount of
RUR1,139 million for Q1 2018. The penalty for not meeting the camtis changed from 1%
additional interest for the next month to 0.5% additional interest for the next quarter.

The loan facility agreement contains other generally acceptable terms, such as the borrower
undertaking to maintain the aggregate value ofpleelged assets, securing the loan facility,
providing the lender with periodic reporting and similar common conditions.

As of 31 December 2@ Bellgate is in compliance with the covenants of this loan

Ozerkovskaya lll loan facility

On 25 January 201Xr own I nvestments LLC (AKrowno),
secured loan from VTB Bank JSC ("the Bank") for refinancing the repayment of borrowings
due to related parties. This loan agreement offers a credit line of US$220 million, which was
drawn down during the first quarter of 2013. The agreed interest is-thmeeh LIBOR plus

5.7% p.a., payable every quarter. The loan repaymenidegt®riginallyin 731 days from the

date of signing the loan agreement. Securities provided to the Bank are dd0%eofl the
shares of Krown and on properties/buildings of Ozerkovskaya (Aquamarine) phase Ill. A
decrease in the market value of the pledged buildings by more than 15% will enable the bank to
demand repayment of the loan before the agreed maturity datasénof disposal of the
pledged building, at least 70% of sale proceeds should be directed to the Bank for the
repayment of the loan.




57
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Ozerkovskaya lll loan facilitycontinued)
An amount of US$15 million was rejdaduring 2013 out of the proceeds from sale of Building
1 of the Ozerkovskaya (Aquamarine) phase lIl.

In January 2015, prior to maturity, the subsidiary signed an addendum to the loan facility
agreement with the Bank, extending the term of the loa@6tdanuary 2018. In addition to
extending the term of the loan, the new addendum amended the payment schedule, interest rate
conditions and introduced new covenants. The payment schedule ardicgpetgments of the

principal starting from the 4th quarterf 2015, while the new coven
Service Coverage Ratioo of 1.2 also applicabl
Value ratioo of 65% applicable from January 2

2015 Krown paid U$10 million to the Bank, being a partial repayment of the outstanding loan
amount, thus reducing the total to US$195 million. Approximately 90% of the principal is to be
paid at maturity.

Based on the independent valuation as at 31 December 2015, afeHewkaya |l project,
Krown, has not met the Loan to Value covenant and the Badkhe right taequire a partial
repayment of the principal of the loan sufficient to rectify the breach of the covenants, within
90 calendar days from the date of thenBanotification. The DSCR ratio covenant of the
Krown loan agreement has not been met either, based on the performance results of. Q4 2015
Krown was therefore, in breach of both covenants in its loan facility agreement. Based on this,
the total amount ofhe outstanding loan (US$29nillion) was reclassified to current liabilities

as at 31 December 2015

Further to thébreach of covenants and theents described innotée Goi ng concern be
accountingo the foll owi ngBaakdrd2¢ Segptanmber 204& r e si gn

Krown | nvest men o VIBLh&e gighded aroadderdym to the Ozerkovskaya

[Il Loan Facility pursuant to which:

(i) the existing covenants (being the debt service coverage ratio and the loan to value
covenants) which Krowrs currently in breach of, have been removed;

(i) all quarterly principal payments due under the facility including the quarterly principal
payment due on 30 June 2016 and which has not been paid, will be deferred to maturity,
being 26 January 2018; and

(iif) the Canpany will provide additional security to VTB in consideration of the above.

All other terms of the facility, including interest payments, remain the same.
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28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Pursuant to the additional security, a new share plegglbe Company over 100% of the share
capital of Bellgate has been entered into with VTB (the "Bellgate Share Pledge"). The Bellgate
Share Pledge continues to cover the obligations of Bellgatsuant to the AFIMALL City

Loan Facility (with any liabilityarising now being satisfied by, inter alia, the transfer of the
pledged shares to VTB), and now also covers the obligations of Krown in respect of the
Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility. In additionyithin 60 calendar days of this addendutme
Company and VB executd the following agreements which provide additional security, being

a:

9 Share pledge agreement over 100% of the share capital of each of Titon LLC (which holds
the Company's interest in the Kossinskaya project) and Semprex LLC (which holds the
Company's interest in the Aquamarine Hotel);

Mortgage agreement over the Kossinskaya project;

Suretyship agreements with each of Titon LLC, Rognestar Finance Limited (the parent
company of Titon LLC), Bellgate, Semprex LLC andjuamareTre Ltd (the parent
company of Semprex LLC) for the full amount of the Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility;

1 Second ranking mortgage agreement over AFIMALL City and the Aquamarine Hotel; and

1 Pledge agreement over the equipment used to operate the Kossinskaya project.

=A =4

BellgateConstu ct i on Li mi t whith holdsBAEIMALY &ity Slboppjng Centre, a
shopping and entertainment centreMoscow City, the business district of Moscocand VTB
havesigned on 27 September 2046 addendum to the AFIMALL City Loan Facility pursuant

to which:

(i) all quarterly principal payments due under the facility, including the quarterly principal
payment due on 30 June 2016 and which has not been paid, will be deferred to maturity,
being 1 April 2018; and

(i) the Company will provide additiona¢surity to VTB in consideration of the above.

All other terms of the facility, including covenants and interagngents, remaithe same.

Within 60 calendar days of this addendum, the Company and VTB also ektdwifellowing
agreements:

9 Second ranikg pledge agreement over 100% of the share capital of each of Krowritamd
LLC (which holds the Kossinskaya project);

i Pledge agreement over 100% of the share capital of each of Semprex LLC and AECFM L
(the property management company for the AFIMACity Shopping Centre);

1 Suretyhip agreements with each of Krown, AFI FM LLC, Inscribe Limited (parent company
of AFI FM LLC), Titon LLC, Rognestar Finance Limited and@amaréelre Ltd for the full
amount of the AFIMALL City Loan Facility;

1 Second ranking ortgage agreement over each of the Ozerkovskaya Il project and the
Kossinskaya project; and

1 Second ranking pledge agreement over the equipment used to for operate the Kossinskaya
project.
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28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The Guarantee and New Loa

In addition to the addenduto the Loan Facility Agreements described above, Mr Leviev has,

on the same date, provided VTB with the Guarantee, being a personal guarantee and indemnity
deed under English law from Mr Leviev to VTB, pursuant to which Mri&etwas undertaken

to guarantee, for a period of 10 months, the obligations of Krown under the Ozerkovskaya lll
Loan Facility. The Guarantee, which is enforceable for 12 months, provides additional security
to VTB in respect of the Ozerkovskaya Il LoarcHigy.

Should VTB enforce the Guarantee, the payment by Mr Leviev of any amounts under the
Guarantee will lead to a discharge of Krown's respective payment obligations under the
Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility and any such payment made by Mr Leviev touritBr the
Guarantee will be deemed the granting of a new loan between the Company and Mr Leviev (the
"New Loan"). If, as a result of the enforcement of the Guarantee, the Ozerkovskaya IIl Loan
Facility is repaid in full by Mr Leviev, all claims of VTB ued the security documents in
respect of Krown's secured obligations under the Ozerkovskaya lll Loan Facility will fall away.

The New Loan will accordingly only become effective in the event that VTB enforces the
Guarantee and Mr Leviev makes a paymen¥Vi®B. The New Loan, if drawn, would be
unsecured, accrue interest at an annual rate of 7% plus three month LIBOR payable quarterly,
be a maximum amount of US$220 million, being equal to the maximum value of the
Ozerkovskaya Il Loan Facility, and repayabte full on or before 26 January 2018. The
interest rate and maturity date of the New Loan are the same as the Ozerkovskaya Ill Loan
Facility.

As a result of theboveamendments to the Loan Facility Agreements and the Guarantee being
entered intdhe loars were reclassified from short term to long term liabilities.

b. Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

Currency Nominal Year of 2016 2015
interest rate maturity US$ ¢ US$ ¢

Secured lan from VTB Bank to Bellgate RUR 9.5% 2018 159,102 132,413
Secured loan from VTB Bank to Bellgate usD 3m USD 2018 276,886 283,386
LIBOR+
5.02%
Secured loan from VTB Bank to Krown usD 3m USD 2018 191,545 193,376
LIBOR+
7%
Secured loan from Julius to AFIEinance usD Bank on - 4,700
refinancing demand
rate+0.75%
on
Other RUR 3-12%  demand 289 239
627,822 614,114
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2016 2015
The loans and borrowings are payable as follows: US$ O6USS$S 0o
Less than one year 748 224,315
Between one and five years 627,074 389,799

More than five years - -
627,822 614,114

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred tax (assets) and liabilities are attributable to the foltpwin 2016 2015
US$ 06 USS

Investment property 73,531 100,109
Investment property under development 3,165 a7
Property, plant and equipment 952 571
Inventory of real estate - 1,115
Trading properties (39) (1,203
Trading properties under mstruction 16,056 9,39
Trade and other receivables (5,777 (6,326)
Trade and other payables 1,737 1,020
Loans and borrowings - (13)
Other items (40) (22)
Tax losses carried forward (74,299 (79097
Deferred tax liability 14,934 25,567

. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015
US$ O6USS$S o
Trade payables 8,490 7,815
Payables to related partigmte 39) 427 657
Amount payable to builders 13,795 3,297
VAT and other taxes payable 5,681 4613
Other payables 2,564 1,781

30,957 18,163
The above are payable within one year and bear no interest.

Payables to related parties

Include an amounof US$8 thousand (31/12/15: US$afousand) payable to Danya Cebus
Rus LLC, related party of the Group, for contracts signed in oeldt the construction of
Groupbdbs projects.

. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

Represent advances received from customers fo
project. During the yearthe Group has sol@48 flats and20 parking placesand receive
additional down payments frooustomers.

DEFERRED INCOME
Represents rental income received in advance, which corresponds to periods after the reporting
date.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTST FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Accounting classificationsand fair values

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financtadiahitiuding their levels ithe far value hierarchy. It does not
include fair value information for financial assets and findrighilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Carrying amount Fair value
Other
Trade and investments Cash Other
Loans other Including and cash financial
Receivable  receivables derivatives equivaless liabilities Total Levell Level2 Level3 Total

31 December 2016 US$600 US$60 USSH60 USSDB0 USSO6(USSO(USSEO USSOWUSSOHCUSS O
Financial assets measured at fair value
Investment in listed &bt ®curities - - 6,068 - - 6,068 6,068 - - 6,068
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Loans receivable 15,770 - - - - 15,770
Trade and other receivables - 7,649 - - - 7,649
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 10,619 - 10,619

15,770 7,649 - 10,619 - 34,038
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Interest bearing loans and borrowings - - - - (627,822) (627,822 - (614,77) - (614,771}
Trade and other payables - - - - (25,276) (25,276)

. 3 : - (653,098) (653,098)
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Accounting classifications and fair values (continued)

Carrying amount Fair value
Other
Trade and investments, Cash Other
Loans other Including and cash financial
Receivable receivables derivatives equivalents liabilities Total Levell Level2 Level3 Total

31 December 2015 US$6000 US$600 US$O600 US$H60( US$H0 US$O60(US$SH US$SO60USSI® US$S60
Financial assets measured at fair value
Investment in listed debesurities - - 15,901 - - 15,901 15,901 - - 15,901
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Loans receivable 14,417 - - - - 14,417
Trade and other receivables - 6,755 - - - 6,755
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 26,545 - 26,545

14,417 6,755 - 26,545 - 47,717
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Interest bearing loans and bosiags - - - - (614,114) (614,114) - (583,635 - (583,635
Trade and other payables - - - - (13,550) (13,550)

. - - - (627,664) (627,664)
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following riakising fromfinancial instruments:
9 credit risk

9 liquidity risk

M market risk

9 operational risk

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversigit ef Gr oup 6 s
ri sk management framework and is responsible f
management policies.

The Groupbs risk management policies are establ
Group, to set appropriate kisimits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Groupbdbs activities. The Group, dphoceduwegh i ts
aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

The Audi t Commi ttee overseas how management mo n i
management policies amqulocedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework

in relation to the risks faed by the Group. ThAudit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by

Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of riskgement

controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligaiprand arises principally from th€r oup 6 s
receivables from tenants and investments in debt securities

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets which are potentially jgab to credit risk consist principally of trade and other
receivables as well as credit exposures with respect to rental customers and buyers of residential
properties including outstanding receivables. The carrying amount of trade and other receivable
represents the maximum amount exposed to credit risk. There is no concentration of credit risk to any
single customer in any of the Groupbs segment s.
risk. The Group has policies in place to ensure thas sdlffats and parking lots as well as renting of

vacant spaces are made to customers and tenants with an appropriate credit history and monitors on a
continuous basis the ageing profile of its receivables.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk(continued)
Trade and other receivablésontinued)

Impairment
At 31 December 23, the ageing of trade and other receivable that were not impaired was
as follows:
2016 2015
US$ o6( USS$ 0
Neither pasdue nor impaired 2,027 1,802
Past due -BO days 166 33
Past due 390 days 729 971
Past due 9120 days 4,727 3,948
7,649 6,754

Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due by more thas 8@ gty
collectible in full, based on historical payment behaviour and extensive analysis of customer credit
risk, i ncl udi n g credidtingslif they arg availabet o mer s 6

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of tradeother receivables during the
year was as follows:
Individual Collective
impairments impairments
Us$ 061 USS$ o

Balance at 1 January 2015 354 12,699
Reversal ofmpairment loss recognised (99 -

Exchange difference effect (200 (1,309
Balance at 31 December 2015 55 11,390
Impairment losgreversalyecognised 366 (1,669)
Exchange difference effect 34 (1,460
Balance at 31 December 2@L 455 8,261

Debt securities

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by inwggtonly in liquid securities and only with
counterparties that have a high credit rating. Management actively monitors credit ratings and given
that the Group only has invested in securities with high credit ratings, management does not expect
any countgparty to fail to meet its obligations.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash at bank of UB$356 thousand at 31 December 2016 (2015: US$26,374. The
cash and cash equivalerdee held with bank and financial institution counterparties with a high
credit rating The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk. Although collection of receivables
could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there isfrzansigisk of loss
to the Group.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk(continued)

Guarantees
The Companyds policy is to plyowneddsubsidiaiies.anci al gu.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meetihgobligationsassociated

with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asseth e Gr ou p 6
appoach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to

meet its liabilities whenhey aredue, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable | osses osreputatisrki ng damage to the Gr

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the wulyilegy businesses, the Group aims to maintain
flexibility in its funding requirements by keeping cash and committed credit lines available.

The Groupébés Iliquidity position is monitored by
required. The Grouptsictures its assets and liabilities in such a way that liquidity risk is minimised.

The Group maintains the following line§ credit as at 31 December 2016

1 A secure bank loan facility from VTB Bank JSC for RUR 21billion, with the majority of the
fundsdesignated for refinancing existing loans and the rest for the financing of the acquisition
and construction AFIMALL City parking. The line was fully used up to the end of February
2014.

1 A secure bank loan facility from VTB Bank JSaitially for US$205 milion, current balance
US$192 million,acquired for refinancing the construction costs for Ozerkovskaya Il project.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The following are theemainingcontractual maturities of financial liabilitiest the reporting date
including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

31 December 2016 Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12
Amount  Cashflow orless months  1-2 years 2-5 years
US$06C US$SO6 US$06' US$S06 US$O6 USS$O

Secured bank loans 627,533 (683,605 (23,379 (23,640 (636,587 -
Unsecured loans 289 (289) (289) - -
Trade and other payables 25,276 (25276 (25,279 - - -

31 December 2015 Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12
Amount Cash flow orless months  1-2 years 2-5 years
US$06C US$SO6 US$06 US$SO6 US$d USSH!

Secured bank loans 613,875 (703,97 (42,699 (37,766 (47,463) (576,052)
Unsecured loans 239 (239) (239) - - -
Trade and other payables 13,550 (13,550) (13,550) - - -

Market risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market pricessuchas foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity .pfibesobjective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currerrisk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in
which loans receivablesales, purchasesf material and construction servicasd borrowingsare
denominated and the respective functional currencies of Group companies. The funuti@maies

of Group companies are primarily the Russian Roubles and US Ddllaescurrencies in which
these transactiorae primarilydenominated @& Russian Roubles, U3ollarsand Euro.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk(continued)

Currency risk(continued)

Exposure to currency risk
The summary quantitative date about the Groupbo
management of the Group is afdws:

RUR Us$ EUR
US$ 6 US$ 6 USS$S o
31 December 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 48 3,230 156
Loans receivable - 11,504 -

Trade receivables 2,935 608 33

Loans and borrowings (6,726) (468,431) -

Trade payables (210) (10,496) (176)
31 December 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 66 14,973 209
Loans receivable - 13,203 46

Trade receivables - 3,942 -

Loans and borrowings (8,974) (472,383) -

Trade payables 151 (14,536) (25)

Sensitivity analysis
The following shows the magnitude ofasiges in respect of a number of major factors influencing
the Groupds profit bef or e ohthexyeaendfigirese assessment

A 10% strengthening of thRussian RubblelJS dollar or Eurcagainstall other currencies at 31
Decembemwould haveaffected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign
currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown. below

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain consgzoresd
any impact of forecast sales, purchases of material and construction services. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2015.

Profit for

the year Equity

UsSs$ o USS$ O
31 December 2016
Russian Roubles 626 -
US dollar (51,509) -
Euro (12) -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk(continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)
Profit for
the year Equity
US$6 00 USS$ oC¢C

31 December 2015

Russian Roubles 824 -
US dollar (50,534) -
Euro 7 -

A 10% weakening of the Russian Rubble, US dollar or Euro against all other curren@gs
December 2015 would have the equal but opposite effect on the aboeec@s to the amounts
shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates. Borrowings issadariable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose
management monitors the interest rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly

Profile
At the reporting date the i nbeasngénarcial martmentspis of i | e
as follows
Carrying amount
2016 2015
Us$ o6t USS$ o
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 29,994 47,195
Financial liabilities (159,39) (132,652
(129,397 (85,457

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets - -
Financial liabilities (468,432 (481,462

(468,43) (481,462
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risKcontinued)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/
(decreased) equity drprofit for the year by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that
all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 221

Profit for
Equity the year
UsSs$ 6 USS$ 0o
31 December 206
Variable rate instruments - (4,68%)
31 December 2015
Variable rate instruments - (4,815

A decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have the equal but
opposite effect orthe above instruments to the amounts shown above, obaslie that all other
variablesremain constant.

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated

with the Gr oparpodnegl, tgehnaogyeandsirdrastructure, and from external factors other
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements
and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational riskfraamisall of the
Groupds operations.

The Groupbs objective i
and damage to the Group
that restricinitiative and creativity.

s to manage operational
6s reputation with overa
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational

risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by

the development of ovetdbroup standards for the management of operational risk in the following

areas:

1 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of
transactions

requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

documentation of controls and procedures

requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls
and procedures to address the risks identified

1 requirements$or the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action

= = —a -9
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Operational risk (continued)

1 development of contingency plans

9 trainingand professional development

1 ethical and business standards

1 risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective

Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by
Internal Audit. The results of Intern@ludit reviews are discussed with the management of the
business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and senior
management of the Group.

Capital management
The Boarddés policy i s t ostamaaintain iavéstor, ceditortamdonarket c a p i
confidence and to sustain future development of the business.

There were no changes in the Groupds approach t
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subjeekternally imposed capital requirements.

The Company is committed to delivering the highest standards in boardroom practice and financial

transparency through:

1 clear and open communication with investors;

1 maintaining accurate quarterly financial recordkioch transparently and honestly reflect the
financial position of its business; and

1 endeavouring to maximise shareholder returns.

A full programme of investor relations activity ensures appropriate contact with institutional and
private shareholders, \hitregular meetings, presentations and disclosure of important information.
Great care i s taken to provide suitably detail e
enable various stakeholders to understand the performance and prospec@rofithe

Russian Business Environment

The Groupbs operations are primarily | ocated 1in
exposed to the economic and financial markets of the Russian Federation which display
characteristics of an emerging rket. The legal, tax and regulatoryafmeworks continue
development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes which together with
other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the
Russan Federation.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
Russian Business Environméoontinued)

The conflict in Ukraine and related events has increased the perceived rikkagbusiness in the
Russian Federation. The imposition of economic sanctions on Russian individuals and legal entities
by the European Union, the United States of America, Japan, Canada,idastdabthers, as well as
retaliatory sanctions imposed ke Russian government, has resulted in increased economic
uncertainty including more volatile equity markets, a depreciation of the Russian Rouble, a reduction
in both local and foreign direct investment inflows and a significant tightening in the ditsilab

credit. In particular, some Russian entities may be experiencing difficulties in accessing international
equity and debt markets and may become increasingly dependent on Russian state banks to finance
their operations. The longer term effects @tently implemented sanctions, as well as the threat of
additional future sanctions, are difficult to determine.

The consolidated financi al statements reflect m
business environment on the operations tedfinancial position of the Group. The future business
environment may differ from management s assess.

Taxation contingencies in the Russian Federation

The taxation system in the Russian Federation continues to evolve and is characteriseceby frequ
changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions, which are sometimes
contradictory and subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities.

Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, valviehhe authority to

impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. A tax year generally remains open for review by
the tax authorities during the three subsequent calendar years. Recent events within the Russian
Federation suggest that the taxrauities are taking a more assertive and substhased position in

their interpretation and enforcement of tax legislation.

Transfer pricing legislation enacted in the Russian Federation starting flanuary 2012 provides
for major modifications makig local transfer pricing rules closer to OECD guidelines, but creating
additional uncertainty in practical application of tax legislation in certain circumstances.

These transfer pricing rules provide for an obligation for the taxpayers to preparertiainshg
documentation with respect to controlled transactions and prescribe the basis and mechanisms for
accruing additional taxes and interest in case prices in the controlled transactions differ from the
market level.

The transfer pricing rules appto crossborder transactions between related parties, as well as to
certain crosdorder transactions between independent parties, as determined under the Russian Tax
Code (no threshold is set for the purposes of prices control in such transactiadgjtiom, the rules

apply to ircountry transactions between related parties if the accumulated annual volume of the
transactions between the same parties exceeds a particular threshold (RUB 1 billion in 2014 and
thereon).
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
Russian Business Environméoontinued)
Taxation contingencies in the Russian Federdtiontinued)

The compliance of prices wi t subjechtescratinyod the bdasisn gt h
of unjustified tax benefit concept.

In addition, a number of new laws introducing changes to the Russian tax legislation have been
recently adopted. In particular, starting from 1 January 2015 changes aimed at regakating t
consequences of transactions with foreign companies and their activities were introduced, such as
concept of beneficial ownership of income, taxation of controlled foreign companies, tax residency

rules, etc. These changes may potentially impactthe @ré s t ax position and cir
risks going forward. This legislation and practice of its application is still evolving and the impact of
legislative changes should be considered based on the actual circumstances.

All these circumstances mayeate tax risks in the Russian Federation that are substantially more
significant than in other countries. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax
liabilities based on its interpretations of applicable Russian tax legislation, officiabuncements

and court decisions. However, the interpretations of the tax authorities and courts, especially due to
reform of the supreme courts that are resolving tax disputes, could differ and the effect on these
consolidated financial statements,higtauthorities were successful in enforcing their interpretations,
could be significant.
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34. GROUPCOMPOSITION

Name Country:
Ultimate controlling party:  Lev Leviev Israel
Holding company: Flotonic Limited (see note below) Cyprus
Significant Subsidaries Ownership interest Country of incorporation
2016 2015

1. OOO AFI RUS 100 100 Russian Federation
2. OOO Avtostoyanka Tverskaya Zastavd 00 100 Russian Federation
3. OO0 Krown Investments 100 100 Russian Federation
4. OAO Moskovskiy Kartonazhnpoligraphiche

skiy Kombinat (MKPK) 99.17 99.17 Russian Federation
5. Bellgate ConstructiaiLimited 100 100 Cyprus
6. OOO Regionalnoe AgroProizvodstvennoe

Objedinenie (RAPO) 100 100 Russian Federation
7. Scotson Limited 100 100 Cyprus
8. OO0 Titon 100 100 Russian Federation
9.ZA0 MTOK 990.71 9971 Russian Federation
10. Triumvirate 1 S.ar.l 100 100 Russian Federation
11. OOO Nordservice 100 90 Russian Federation
12. OOOPlaza SPA 100 100 Russian Federation
13. OO0 Semprex 100 100 Russian Federation
14. OO0 Zheldoruslugi 95 95 Russian Federation
15. OOO Bizar 74 74 Russian Federation
16. AFI D Finance SA 100 100 British Virgin Islands

On 7 September 2016Mr Leviey, the Companyo6s c amdtAfrical I$rdelng s h a
Investments Ltd ("Al")completed amgreement aceding to which, Mr LevievacquiredAl's entire

holding of securities of AFI Development (the "Purchased Securities"). The trangaciioded

that in consideration for the Purchased Securities Mr Leviev pajdhbugh Flotonic Limited a

fully owned private company, NIS550 milligran effective price of US$0.2148 per share. As a

result, Flotonic Limitednow hol ds 336, 948, 796 Gl obal Depositor
ordinary shares) and 342,799,658 Deposi,tory I
representing in aggregate 64.88% of the Company's issued share capital.

Additionally, Mr Leviev has personally granted a call option to Al in respect of 51,933,807 GDRs

and 52,835,598 B ordinary shares (approximately 10% of the Company's issued plialeataa

price of US$0.216 per 1 GDR and US$0.295 per 1
assigned by Al to trustees on behalf of Al bondholders and the trustees may exercise the Call Option
within three years from the date of completionta Purchase Transaction upon instructions of the

Al bondholders



74
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

35. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

There were no individually significant subsidiaries which have material NCI.

36. OPERATING LEASES

Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentate payable as follows:

2016 2015
Us$ 6(C USS$ o
Less than a year 6,017 4,764
Between one and five years 17,613 22,017
More than five years 27,042 32,747
50,672 59,528
Amount recognised as an expense during the year 1,429 1,566

The ownership of land in the Russian Federation is rare and especially within Moscow region, in
which all of the property with only a few exceptions, is owned by the City of Moscow. The majority

of land is occupied by private entities pursuant to leaseeaggnts between occupants, of the
building located on the land, and the City of Moscow. The Group has severdaetangperating

leases for land. These leases are entered into with the intention and right to develop the land and
carry out construction. Tpycally they run for an initial period of one to five years which is the
period of development and upon completion of development the developer has the right to renew for
a long term period of usually up to 49 years. Under both leases the lessee id ramuitake
periodic lease payments, generally on a quarterly basis to the City of Moscow.

There is also the option of long term land lease prior to commencement of construction which the
developer can acquire with a lump sum payment that is determinedifinento time by the City of
Moscow and is based on the size of the land, its location and the proximity to amenities. The Group
has two such land rights and they run for period of 49 years.

Leases as lessor
The Group leases out investment property ungerating leasesee note 15The future minimum
lease payments under roancellable leases are as follows:
2016 2015
US$ 06 US$ 0

Less than a year 68,426 85,343
Between one and five years 134,456 127,608
More than five years 29,301 25,412

232,183 238,363

Amount recognised as income during the year 72,299 81,561
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37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Up to 31 Decembe2016the Group has entered into a humber of contracts for the construction of
investment or trading properties:

Project name Commitment
2016 2015
US$ 61 USS$ oC¢C
Odinburg 2,158 33,645
Kosinskaya 839 244
TVZ Plaza IC 1,122 730
Serebryakova 21,856 5,060
Pavaletskaya I 28,196 32,200
TVZ Plaza IV 24 89
TVZ Plaza ll 761 384
Bolshaya Pochtovaya 115 1,538
Starokaluzhskoye shosse 5 -
55,076 73,890
38. CONTINGENCIES
There were not any contingent liabilities as at 31 Decembd. 201
39. RELATED PARTIES
Outstanding balances with related parties 2016 2015
US$ 06 USS$ 6
Assets
Amounts receivable from joint ventures 11 10
Amountsreceivablegrom ultimate holding company - 203
Amounts receivable from other related companies 256 124
Long term loasreceivable from joint ventures 15,745 14,246
Short term lans receivable from joint ventures - 98
2016 2015
Uuss US$ o
Liabilities
Amounts payable to joint ventures 102 6
Amounts payable to ultimate holding company - 492
Amounts payable to other related companies 325 159
Deferred income from related company 145 125
Transactions with the key management personnel 2016 2015
Uuss Uuss o
Key management personnel compensation comprised:
Shortterm employee benefits 2,631 2,798
Share option schenexpense 857 2,283
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RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including director
(whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. The person is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity or its parent (includes the immediate, intermediate or ultimate parent). Key
management is not limited to directors; othernnbers of the management team also may be key

management.
Other related party transactions

Revenue

Joint venturé consulting services
Joint venturé interest income
Related company rental income

Expenses

Related company administrative expenses
Ultimate holding company administrative expenses
Joint venturé operating expenses

Other related party transactions

Construction services capitalised
Related company construction services

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

2016
UsS$

173
1,339
699

=
a1
\‘

o
N |

2015
6t US$ oI

145
1,422

Subsequent to 31 December 8Qhere were no events that took place which have a bearing on the
understanding dhese financial statements except of the following:

1 In February 2017, AFI Development Plc announced that its subsidiary, Sanatory Plaza LLC

(APl azao), has

other50% stake inthelPaza Spa

recei ved
Ki sl

| oan
ovodsk

project

from VTiHR Bank
(Athe Pr

which was completed on 28 February 20TThe Group already owned 50% stake in the project

and with this acquisition now owns 100%he loan, in the amount of US$22.5 million, was
provided in US dollars for 5 years (the term can be extended for additional 5 years subject to
agreement between the parties), it bears an annual interest rate of 3 months Libor + 4.5%, has
quarterly principal payments (ranging from US$260 thousand i@0Q3 to US$822 thousand in

Q3 2021), and a balloon payment of US$11.254 million at maturity. The interest is to be paid
guarterly. The loan was used primarily to repay the outstanding debt of Plaza to the companies of

AFI

Devel opment 0s ct pnathetameunt ofi Us$16.% milliop priorj te the

acquisition of the equity stake. The remainder of the loan was used to finance the acquisition
itself: the 50% equity stakes in both Nouana Limited and Craespon Management Limited (which

together controlQ@ 0 % o f Pl aza)

million in cash.

purchased by

AFI De
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40. SUBSEQUENT EVENTScontinued)

1 In March 2017, AFI DevelopmerRlc announced that it had completed the acquisition of the
remaining 5% stake in the Tverskaylaza IV project from its partner, for US$1.5 million in
cash. AFI DevelopmenPIc acquired 5% of the shares in Beslaville Management Limited, a
subsidiary holding rights to the project, increasing its share from 95% to 100k .acquisition
resulted i the recognition of US$1,725 thousand gain in the profit or loss.

1 In March 2017 the Compafyssubsidiary AFI RUS Management LLCsigned a facility
agreement for a credit line of RUR470 million from Sberbank PJSC, with a 2 years term, to
finance construton of the Odinburg project.
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STATEMENT BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE COMPANY
OFFICIALS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DRAFTING OF THEEPARATEFINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF CYPRUS LAW 190(1)/2007 ON TRANSPARENCY
REQUIREMENTS

We, the members of éhBoard of Directors and the Company officials responsible for the drafting
of the separate financial statements of AFI D
December 2016, the names of which are listed below, confirm that, to the besknbwledge:

d) The separate financiatatementsn pages 80 to 100

(i) have beermprepared in accordance withe International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the utopean Union and the requirements of the Cyprus
Companies Law,

(iv) give a trueand fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of
the Companyand the undertakings included in the consoédatinancial statements
takenas a wholg

e) the adoption of a going concern basis for the preparation ckfera financial statements
continues to be appropriate based on the foregoing and having reviewed the forecast
financial position of th&€ompany and

The Directors of the Company as at the date of this announcement are as set out below:
The Board of Directors

Executive directors

Lev Levievi Chairman B ettt
Non-executive independent directors

Panayidis DEMEtriOU oo

David Tahan
Company officers

Chief executive officer

Mark GroySman e

Chief financial officer

Natalia PIrogova e

6 April 2017
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SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT OEOMPREHENSIVE INCOMEOF THE

PARENT COMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

Revenue

Other income

Other expenses

Administrative expenses

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
Losson disposal of investment in subsidiaries
Results from operating activities
Finance income

Finance costs

Net financecosts

Lossfor the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensiveexpensdor the year

The notes on pagékl to 100 are an integral part of these sepdirsacial statementsf the parent

company.

Note

~ ~ o

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000
478,382 3,250
482 849
(82) -
(6,912 (9,654)
(560,663)  (502,445)
- (236)
(567,657 (512335
(88,793 (508,236
254 742
_ (8,779 _(7.480
(8,523 (6,739
(97,316 (514,973
(97,316 (514,972
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGS IN EQUITYOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended 31 Decemb6d. @

Share Share  Accumulate
capital premium losses Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 USS$'000

Balance at 1 January 2015 1,048 1,763,40¢ 93,239 1,857,696

Total comprehensive income for the year - (514,974 (514,9%)
Transactions with owners of the Company

Contributions and distributions

Share option expense - - 2,283 2,283
Balance at 31 Decemb2015 1,048 1,763,40¢ (419,452 _1,345,00¢
Balance at 1 January 2016 1,048 1,763,40¢ (419,452, 1,345,00¢

Total comprehensivexpensdor the year - (97,316) (97,316
Transactions with owners of the Company

Contributions and distributions

Share option expense - - 857 857
Balance at 31 December 2016 1,048 1,763,40¢ (515,911 1,248,54¢

The notes on page®4 to 100 are an integrgart of these separafmancial statementsf the parent
company.
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONDF THE PARENT COMPANY

Assets
Investment in subsidiaries

Trade and other receivables
Refundable tax

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Total assets

Equity

Share capita

Share premium
Accumulated losses
Total equity

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Total non-current liabilities

Shortterm loans and borrowings

Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

As at 31 December 2016

Note

10

11

11
12

2016 2015
US$'000  USS$'000
1,242,182 1,313,453

210,947 210,635

2,215 2,215
2,057 6,905

215,219 219,755

1,457,401 1,533,208

1,048 1,048
1,763,409 1,763,409
(515,911 (419,452
1,248,546 1,345,005
109,337 86,975
109,337 86,975

- 97,390

99,518 3,838
99,518 101,228

208,855 188,203
1,457,401 1,533208

The financial statements were apped\by the Board of Directors on 6 April 2017

82

Lev Leviev
Chairman

David Tahan
Director

The notes orpages84 to 100 are an integral part of these sdpdinancial statement®f the parent
company.
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AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSF THE PARENT COMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note US$'000 US$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year (97,316) (514974)
Adjustments for:

Unrealised exchandgain)loss 6 (46) 36
Loss on disposal of investments in subsidiaries 7 - 236
Impaiment of investment in subsidiaries 7 560,663 502,445
Dividend income 4 (478,382 (3,250)
Interest income 6 (208 (742)
Interest expense 6 8,756 7,390
Share option expense 5 857 2,283
(5,679 (6,579
Change in trade and other receivables (448 (5,367
Change in trade and other payables 554 807
Net cash used in operating activities (5,5) (11,139
Cash flows from investing activities
Additional contribution of capital to existing subsidiaries 7 (3,000 (18,592
Proceeds from repayment of loans receivable 3,300 -
Dividends received 4 - 3,250
Interest received 6 235 986
Net cashfrom/(used in investing activities 534 (14,359
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loans and borrowings 11 (6,050 (3,979)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 11 6,225 2,000
Interest paid 11 - (4,760
Net cashfrom/(used in)financing activities 175 (6,740
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 13 10
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,849 (32,222)
Cash and caslgaivalents at 1 January 6,905 39,127
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 2,057 6,905
The cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash at banks 2,057 6,905

The notes orpages84 to 100 are an integral pat these separatinancial statementsf the parent
company.



84
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended 31 Dedeen 2016

INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

AFl Devel opment PLC (pofated imiCymuspnall Febriiary ®G0E as a imiteal r
liability company under the name Donkamill Holdings Limited. In April 2007 the Company was
transformed into public company and changed its name to AFI Development PLC. The address of the
Comp any 6red offie gsi 165t Spyrou Araouzou Street, Lordos Waterfront Building, 5th floor,
Flat/office 505, 3035 Limassol, Cyprus. As of 7 September 2016 the Company is a 64.88% subsidiary
of Flotonic Limited, a private holding company registered in Cyprus, 100feadwy Mr Lev Leviev.

Prior to that, the Company was a 64. 88%ssals$idodi a
which is |isted in the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (i
held by a custodian bank ix@hange for the GDRs issued and listed in the London Stock Exchange
(ALSEOQ) . On 5 July 2010 the Company issued by wa
were admitted to a premium listing on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority anicatting on the

mai n mar ket of LSE. On the same dat e, the ordina
shares.

The principal activity of the Company is the holding of investments in subsidsie®intly controlled
entities

BASIS OF ACCQINTING

() Going concern
The financial statements have been prepare@ going concern basis, as detailed in note 2(i) of the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance véthabidnal Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the Cyprus
Companies Law, Cap.113.

Users of these parent's separate financial statements should read them together with the Group's
consolidatedinancial statements as at and tbe year ended 31 December 20d6rder to obtain a

proper understanding of the financial position, the financial performance and the cash flows of the
Company and the Group.

(iii) Basis of measurement

The financial sitements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except in the case of
investments, which are stated at cost leswipion for impairment in value and receivables which are
stated after the provision for impairment.

(iv) Adoption of newand revised International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations
As from 1 January 2016, the Group adopted all changes to International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the EU which are relevant to its operations.

I FRS édulidRkt ory Deferral Accountso was effective
January 2016 but was not adopted by the EU as it was decided not to launch the endorsement process of
this interim standard and to wait for the final standard.



85
AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TOTHE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended 31 Dedeen 2016

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING (continued)

(iv) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations
(continued)

The followingStandards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet
effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2016. Those which may be relevant to the Company
are set out below. The Company does not plan to adopt these 8taaaldy.

Standards and Interpretations adopted by the EU

T I FRS 9 AFi nanci al I nstrumentso (effective f
2018).

T I FRS 15 ARevenue from contracts with customer s

after 1 January 2018).

Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU

T 1AS 7 (Amendments) ADisclosure Initiativeo (ef

or after 1 January 2017).

T ITAS 12 (Amendments) MnNRecedgniftoiromJnaofe abDe fserdr dad sE

annual accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).
1 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 202816 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017 (IFRS 12) and 1 January 2018 (IFRfsl 1AS 28)).

T ITFRS 2 (Amendment s) ACl assidbiacaedi Pamymedt MGaaunt

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

T IFRS 4 (Amendments) AApplying | FRS Tohitmamrdisal

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

T I'FRS 15 (Clarifications) ARevenue from Contrac

beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

T I'AS 40 (AmendmentskenfiTPPanmnpfeenr yoofl effieesti me f
on or after 1 January 2018).

T I FRI' C 22 AForeign Currency Transactions and
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

T I FRS 16 fALeases dpefodsfbégmming onvoeaftdr bJanuaryn2019)a

The Board of Directors expects that the adoption of the above financial reporting standards in future
periods will not have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Company
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING(continued)

(v) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements danformity with IFRSs requiresnanagemento make
judgemens, estimates and assumptions that aftbet appication of accounting policies and the
reportedamounts of assets andHikities, income and expense&ctual results may deviate from such
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are vesteon an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

In particular, information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that Hewneost
significant effect on the amowsecognised in the financial statements are described below:

 Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these mattersrendffi@m the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will implaetincome taxprovisions in the

period in which such determination is made.

T Impairmentof investments in subsidiaries

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverabitifyinvestments in subsidiariewhenever
indicators of impairment are present. Indicators of impairment include such items as declines in
revenues, earnings or cash flows or material adverse changes in the economic or political stability of a
particular coatry, which may indicate that the carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable. If facts
and circumstances indicathat investment in subsidiariasay be impaired, the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows assated with these subsidiari@®uld becompared to their carrying amounts

to determine if a writelown to fair value is necessary.

(vi) Functional and presentation currency

Thesefinancial statements are presented in United States Dolaltisi ch i s t he Companyd
currency. All finan@l information presented in United States Dollars has been rounded to the nearest
thousandexcept when otherwise indicated

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policieset out belowhave been applied consistentty all periodspresentedn these
financial statements and in stating the financial position of the Company.

Subsidiary companies
Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment in value, which is
recognised as an expense in the period irthvtiie impairment is identified.
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year mded 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Finance income and finance cost
Finance income comprises ingstincome on bank depositBiterest income is recognised as it accrues
in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs compriseterest expense on borrowindorrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
using the effective intes¢ method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance cost
depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presntation currency
Items included in the Company's financial statements are measured using the current
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency'). The f
statements are presented in United Statekaf3, rounded to the nearest thousand, which i
Company's functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the excha
prevailing at thedates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
settlement of such transactions and from the translation atepdaexchange rates of mone
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised tioplads.

Revenue

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognisdad profit or losswhen the right taeceive payment is established i.e.
dividends are declared and approved by the investee companies.

Tax

Tax liabilities and assets for the current gomobr periods are measured at the amount expected to be
paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or
substantively enacted, by the reporting date. Current tax includes any adjustments tyakde ipa

respect of previous periods.

Dividends
Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised in the Company's financial
statements in the year in which they are approved by the Company's shareholders.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instrument&ontinued)

() Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank.

(i) Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded initially at the proceeelseived, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings

are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any differences between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowmiggs usi

the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognised when:

9 the rights taeceive cash flows from the asset have expired;

1 the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass through' arrangement; or

1 the Compan has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, bnahsferred control of the asset.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same |lemdewubstantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in thespective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisatemregiewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoagle amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (egsferating units).

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and thers an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and
liabilities are presented gross in the statement of diahposition.




89
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEScontinued)

Noncurrent assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for saleeif carrying amount will be recovered through a

sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale
is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Mahageme
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classificatiddon-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately in the statement of finamgaition and are to be measured at the lower of the
assetd6s previous carrying amount and fair wvalue

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The difference between the fair value of the consideration

received by the Copany and the nominal value of the share capital being issued is taken to the share
premium account.

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities represent amounts that are due more than twelve months from the reporting date.

Comparatives
Where necessg, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the
current year.

4. REVENUE
2016 2015
US$'000 USS$'000
Dividend income 478,382 3,250

During the yearthe Companyransferred its investmeim sulsidiary Bellgate Constructions Limited to
another subsidiary, Vardia Limited for a total consideration of US$80Ghousand. Being a common
control transaction the difference between the cost of investment and the disposal pressogisedsa
deemed dividend received.

During the year 2015 the Company received dividends from its subsidiryDevelopment Hotels
Limited which were recognised as income upon declaration and approval.



AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC

NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENTCOMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

5. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2016 2015

US$'000 US$'000
Consultancyand brokeragéees 1,723 758
Donations 640 2,796
Legal fees 623 343
Share option expense 857 2,283
Directorsd® remunerati on 1,361 1,472
Audi torsd remunerati on 320 463
Valuation expenses 91 123
Insurance 168 151
Other administrative experse 1,129 1,265

6,912 9,654

6. NET FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015

US$'000 US$'000
Interest income 208 742
Net foreign exchange gain 46 -
Finance income 254 742
Interest expense on loans and borrowings (8,759 (7,390)
Other finance costs (21) (22)
Net foreign exchange loss - (69
Finance costs (8,777) (7,480

Net financecosts (8,523 (6,739
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000
Balance at 1 January 1,313453 1,686,863
Additional investmenin existing subsidiaries 511,010 129,271
Disposal of investment in subsidiaries (21,618) (236)
Impairment (560,663 (502,445)
Balance at 31 December 1242,182 1,313,453

During the year, based on an interngdtructuring plan, the Company transferred its 100% holding in its
subsidiary Bellgate Constructions Limited to subsidiary Vardia Limited for a total consideration of
US$500,000 thousand. Being a common control transaction the difference of US$478)\&&h libe cost

of investment and the disposal price was recognised as a deemed dividend received in profit or loss.
Following this internal restructuring plan, the Company contributed on 30 December 2016 the amount of
US$500,000 thousand to its subsidiarfflAD Finance S.A, which was previously received as deemed
dividend.

At 31 December 2016 the Company recognised an impairment loss 660863thousand (31/12/2015:
US$502,445 thousand) due to a decrease in the fair value of the properties hetaibsidlisiries as at that

date the deemed dividend received and an estimate of impairment of the receivables of AFI D Finance S.A.
in which the Company impaired its investmeRefer to the Russian Business Environment section in this
note for further detés of the unfavourable conditions which contributed to the drop in fair value of the
subsidiariesd projects.

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Investment Country of Principal 2016 2015
incorporation activities US$ '000 US$ '000

Investment in Holding of

holdingcompanies  Cyprus investments/Financing 218,979 229,166

Investment irreal

estatecompanies Russian Federatio Real estatéevelopment 215,569 218,042

Investment in

financingcompanies BVI Financing 807,634 866,245

1242,182 1,313,453

The exposure to the Russian Business Environment in relation to the investment in real estate investment
and development entities in Russia is presented in note 14 of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THESEPARATEFINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December@01

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
US$'000 US$ '000
Receivabés from related parties (Note)13 210,37¢  210,35¢
Other receivables 569 276

210,947 210,63¢

The exposure of the Company to credit risk and impairment losses in relation to trade and other
receivables is reported in note &fithe financial statements.

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016 2015
US$'000 US$ '000
Cash and c#sequivalents consists of:
Cash at banks 2,057 6,905

10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2016 2015
Share capital US$'000 US$'000
Authorised
2,000,000000 shares of US$001 each 2,000 2,000
Issued and fully paid
523847,027 A ordinary shares of US®01 each 524 524
523847,027 B ordinary shares of US$01 each 524 524

1,048 1,048

On7 September 201®4r Levieyy, t he Companyo6s candAfricaddraklinesgnerdsh ar e h o
Ltd ("Al") completed aragreement according to which, Mr LevieequiredAl's entire holding of

securities of AFl Development (the "Purchased Securities"). The transgotavided that in
consideration for the Purchased Securities Mr Leviev pajdhrough Flotonic Limited a fully owned

private company, NIS550 milligran effective price of US$0.2148 per share. As a result, Flotonic
Limtednowhol ds 336, 948, 796 GI| obal Depository Receip
342,799,658 Depositoy | nt erests (issued over ABO ordinary
of the Company's issued share capital.

Additionally, Mr Leviev has personally granted a call option to Al in respect of 51,933,807 GDRs and
52,835,598 B ordinary shares (apgmately 10% of the Company's issued share capital) at a price of
US$0.216 per 1 GDR and US$0.295 pdiBb ordinary share. Theall option has been assigned by Al

to trustees on behalf of Al bondholders and the trustees may exercise the Call Optiothwethiyears

from the date of completion of the Purchase Transaction upon instructions of the Al bondholders.
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

10.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continui

Share premium

It represents the share premium on the issue of shares on 31 December 2006 for the conversion of the
sharehol dersdéd | oans to capital US$421, 325 thousa
shares which were represented PR3 listed in the LSE in 2007. It was the result of the difference
between the offering price, US$14, and the nominal value of the shares, US$0.001, after deduction of all
listing expenses. An amount of US$1,399,900 thousand less US$57,292 thousactidnaossts was

recognised during the year 2007. On 5 July 2010 an amount of US$524 thousand was capitalised as a
result of a bonus issue.

Employee Share option plan

The Company has established an employee share option plan operated by the Boartbof, Dwgch

is responsible for granting options and administratimg ¢mployee share option plagligible are
employees and directors, excluding indegent directors, of the Companihe employees share option
plan is discretionary and options will beagted only when the Board so determines at an exercise price
derived from the closing middle market prigeeceding the date of gramo payment will be required

for the grant of the options. bmy 10 year period not more tha@ per cent of the issueddinary share
capital may be issued or be issuable under the employee share option plan.

As of 31 December 2®Ihe following options wereutstanding

9 During 2007 and 2008 options ov&DRs with an exercise price of US$7 which have already
vested, onghird on the second anniversary of the date of grant, a furthethisdeon the third
anniversary and the remaining ettiird, on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant provided that
the participants remained in employment until the vesting date.v@sting was not subject to any
performance condition©n 31 December 2016 1,017,240 optidhd% of the issued share capital
were outstanding which have already vestedlang a contractual life of ten years from the date
of grant.

1 On2l1 May 2012he Board of Directors approved the gr a
employees. Options over 16,763,104 B shares, 1.6% of the issued share capital, were granted with
an exercise price equal to US$0.7208, vestingtbind on the second anniversaof the date of
grant, a further onthird on the third anniversary and the remaining-tm, on the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant provided that the participants remain in employment until the
vesting date. The vesting is not subject to amjop@ance conditions. Their contractual life is five
years from the date of grant. Up until 31 Decembeb2)095,388 options were cancellead the
remainingl4,667,716ptionshavevested.

T On 22 November 2012, the Board of Directors approved the gfaadditional options to the
Companyb6s executive chairman. Options over 31, ¢
were granted with an exercise price equal to US$0.5667, vestinghicheon the second
anniversary of the date of grant, a fertlonethird on the third anniversary and the remaining-one
third, on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant provided that the participants remain in
employment until the vesting date. The vesting is not subject to any performance cendition
options have vested and have a contractual lifevefyears from the date of grant
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended $lecember 2016

10.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Employee Share optiorplan (continued)

If a participant ceases to be employed his options will normally lapse subject to certain exceptions. In
the event of a takeover, reorganisation or winding up vested options may be exercised or exchanged for
new equivalent options wheeppropriate. Shares/GDRs issued under the plan will rank equally with

all other shares at the time of issue. The Board of Directors may satisfy (with the consent of the
participant) an option by paying the participant in cash or other assets the gainalisrnative of

issuing and transferring the shares/GDRs.

Retained earnings
The amount at each reporting date is available for distribution. No dividends were proposed, declared or
paid during the year ended 31 Decembet62@D15: Nil)

11. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2016 2015
US$'000 US$'000
Long term liabilities
Loans fromAFID Finance SANote 13) 109,337 86,975

Short term liabilities
Loans from Krown Investments LLC (Note 13 - 97,390

Maturity of norrcurrent borowings:

Within one year - 97,390

Between one and five years 109,337 86,975
109,337 184,365

The loan outstanding on 31 December 2016 represamtsinsecured oan from the Com
subsidiay, AFI D Finance S.A. The loabeas interest 0f6% per annumand is repayable on 31
December 202

The loan payable to Krown Investments LLC, which carried interest of CBR pdd.annum and was
repayabl e on 31 December 2016, was fully settl ed
receivable fom Bellgate Constructions Ltd, for further details refer to note 12.

The exposure of the Company to interest rate risk in relation to finansiainments is reported in note
14 of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THESEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF THE PARENT COMPANY

For the year ended $lecember 2016

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015
US$'000 US$'000
Paydles to related parties (Note)13 99,316 3,625
Other payables 202 213
99,518 3,838

Payables to tated parties include an obligation of US$95,139 thousand to AFI D Finance S.A. arising
from an assignment agreement according to which AFID Finance S.A. assigned to the company a loan
receivable from Bellgate Constructions Limited which was later sewitlfif a loan payable to Krown
Investments LLC, refer to note 11. The outstanding balance bears no interest and is repayable no later
than 31 December 2017.

13.RELATED PARTIES

The transactions with related parties are as follows:

(i) Transactions with the Key Management Personnel
2016 2015
US$'000 US$ '000
Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Shortterm employee benefits 1,200 1,200
Share option scheme expense 857 2,283

(i) Other related party transactions

2016 2015
US$'000 US$'000
Interestexpense charged from subsidiaries (8,759 (7,390)
Consulting es charged by related company (157) -
Consulting fees charged from holding company - (330)
Management fees charged from subsidiaries (769 (723)
Otha administrativeexpenses charged by related company (11) (11)

The balances with related parties are as follows:

(iii) Receivabks from related parties (Note 3
2016 2015
US$'000 US$'000

Receivables from subsidiaries 210,38 210,359

Receivables from subsidiaries include an amount of US$201,953 thousand from AFI D Finance S.A.
representing loans assigned by the Company to the subsidiary during the year 2015.
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13.RELATED PARTIES (continued)

14.

The balances with related parties are as follows:

(iv) Payables to related parties (Note 1@

2016 2015
US$'000 USS$'000
Payables to subsidiaries 98,984 3,135
Payables to reted company 332 -
Payables to holding company - 490

99,316 3,625

(v) Loan from related party (Note 11)

2016 2015
US$'000 US$ '000
Name
AFI D Finance S.A. 109,337 86,975
Krown Investments LLC - 97,390

109,337 184,365

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Company is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
91 Credit risk

9 Liquidity risk

1 Market risk

The Board of Directors has overall pesisibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's
risk management framework.

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, anditororisks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Company's activities.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge theiataintigf could reduce the
amount of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand at the reporting date. The Company has no
significant concentration of credit risk. Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial
institutions and the Companya$ policies to limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial
institution.
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financid risk factors(continued)

Credit risk(continued)

Trade and other receivables

The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in
respect of trade and other receivables. The main components of thisraiéd are a specific loss
component that relates to individually significant exposures and a collective loss component established
for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified.

Cash and cash equivalents
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. Cash transactions are limitedceditgjuality
financial institutions. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

Guarantees

The Companyads policy i s t oy topwholly-owdeel subsidiarees ¢ni a | g
negotiations with lending banks, the Company aims to avoid recourse to AFl Develapmieains
taken by subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2016, there were two outstanding guarantees: one for the amount of US$1 million in
favour of VTB Bank PJSC under a loan facility agreement of Bellgate Construction Limited (AFIMALL
City) and the second for the amount of US$192 million, also in favour of VTB Bank PJSC, under a loan
facility agreement of Krown Investments LLC (OzerkovskHia

In February 2017, AFI Development provided an additional guarantee in favour of VTB Bank PJSC for

the loan amounting to US$22.5 million, taken by its subsidiary Sanatory Plaza LLC to finance the
acquisition of the 50% stake in the Plaza Spa Kisldvgasject (including repayment of debt to the
exiting partnerdés company). This guarantee wil/ |
loan are entered into and registered, expected by the end of April 2017

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity of assets and liabilities does not match. An
unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The
Company has procedures with the object of minimising such losseasunhintaining sufficient cash

and other highly liquid current assets and by having available an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities.

Marketrisk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, atsresidr
equity prices will affect the Company's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rate. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk. The Company's
management monitors the interest rate fluctuations on a consitnasis and acts accordingly.
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factorgcontinued)

Marketrisk (continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a cancy that is not the Company's measurement currency. The Company

is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect to
the Euro and the Russian Rouble. The Company's management monitors the exchangtuedienfu

on a continuous basis and acts accordingly.

Capital management

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
increasing the return to shareholders through the strive to improve the deptratpitThe Company's
overall strategy remains unchanged from last year.

Russian Subsidiariesd Business Environment

The real estate pr oj ec tare primérily todated irCtherRpssianyFédsratisnu b s i d
Consequently, th€ompanyis expogd to the economic and financial markets of the Russian Federation

which display characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue
development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes wéibbrtegth other

legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Russian
Federation.

The conflict in Ukraine and related events has increased the perceived risks of doing business in the
Russian Federation. Thposition of economic sanctions on Russian individuals and legal entities by

the European Union, the United States of America, Japan, Canada, Australia and others, as well as
retaliatory sanctions imposed by the Russian government, has resulted insedcrazonomic
uncertainty including more volatile equity markets, a depreciation of the Russian Rouble, a reduction in
both local and foreign direct investment inflows and a significant tightening in the availability of credit.

In particular, some Russiamtéies may be experiencing difficulties in accessing international equity

and debt markets and may become increasingly dependent on Russian state banks to finance their
operations. The longer term effects of recently implemented sanctions, as wellrasdhef additional

future sanctions, are difficult to determine.
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factorgcontinued)

Russian Subsidiari éenfinudlusi ness Environment

Continuation of the abovmentioned events, and/or an increase in the severity thereof, could have an
adverse effect on various f ac e andlordthappeariaginiCtilempany 6
financial statements, among others, as follows:

9 An unfavourable impact on the revenues due to a decline in the demand in the commercial sector
and residential sector;

1 Anincrease in the costs with respect to its activities in Russia;

1 A decrease in the value of the real estate properties as a result of the decrease in the revenues and/or
an increase in the risk premium in the economy and, in turn, an increase in the discount rate taken
into account when determining the value;

1 An increasein the financing expenses and/or an adverse impact on the available sources of
financing;

 From an accounting standpoint, a devaluation of the ruble could have a negative impact on the
Companyds sharehol dersodé equity.

The Companyis monitoringthe economiadevelopmentsn Russia, in general, and in the real estate
market, in particularlt is noted that due to the uncertainty prevailing in light of the events described
abovethe Companys reviewing the development plans and timetablesmfraber of its prjects.Due

to the inability to predict the duration or the manner of the future development of political and economic
events, the Company is not able, at this stagestmnate the future impact of these mattersiten
Russian subsidiaries

15. FAIR VALUES

The fair values of the Company's financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts at
the reporting date.

16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2016.
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17. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2ahére were no events that took place which have a bearing on the
understandig of these financial statemesmixcept of the following:

)l

In February 2017, AFI Development Plc announced that its subsidiary, Sanatory Plaza LLC
(APl azad), has received a |l oan from VTB Bank F
stake in the Plaza SPraojkicglogv ofdrsokm pirtosj epcar t(nfetr
was completed on 28 February 2017. The loan, in the amount of US$22.5 million, was provided

in US dollars for 5 years (the term can be extended for additional 5 years subject to agreement
between the part®, it bears an annual interest rate of 3 months Libor + 4.5%, has quarterly
principal payments (ranging from US$260 thousand in Q3 2017 to US$822 thousand in Q3
2021), and a balloon payment of US$11.254 million at maturity. The interest is to be paid
guaterly. The loan was used primarily to repay the outstanding debt of Plaza to the companies of
AFI Devel opment 6s partner in the project, i n
acquisition of the equity stake. The remainder of the loan was usedattcdi the acquisition

itself: the 50% equity stakes in both Nouana Limited and Craespon Management Limited (which
together control 100% of Plaza) were purchase:t
million in cash.

In March 2017, AFI Developmerlc announced that it had completed the acquisition of the
remaining 5% stake in the Tverskaya Plaza IV project from its partner, for US$1.5 million in

cash. AFI DevelopmenPlc acquired 5% of the shares in Beslaville Management Limited, a
subsidiary holdig rights to the project, increasing its share from 95% to 100%.

In March 2017 the Compadyssubsidiary AFI RUS Management LLCsigned a facility

agreement for a credit line of RUR470 million from Sberbank PJSC, with a 2 years term, to
finance constructio of the Odinburg project.



